Equivalences for Concurrent and Distributed Systems

A Survey of Dissertation 1

IGOR V. TARASYUK

Theoretical Programming Laboratory, A.P. Ershov Institute of Informatics Systems, Siberian Division of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Acad. Lavrentiev ave. 6, 630 090 Novosibirsk, Russia Phone: +7 3832 34 13 60 Fax: +7 3832 32 34 94 E-mail: itar@iis.nsk.su

¹This paper was produced during the author's research work in the Group of Parallel Programming, Theoretical Programming Branch of the Informatics Department, Carl von Ossietzky University, Ammerländer Heerstraße 114–118, D-26 111 Oldenburg, Germany. The work was supported by Deutsche Akademische Austauschdienst (DAAD), grant A/98/38518

Contents

| In | Introduction 3 | | | | |
|----------|--------------------|---|-----------------|--|--|
| 1 | Petr | ri nets | 10 | | |
| | 1.1 | Basic definitions | 11 | | |
| | 1.2 | Petri nets without silent transitions | 11 | | |
| | | 1.2.1 Basic equivalences | 11 | | |
| | | 1.2.2 Back-forth equivalences | 13 | | |
| | | 1.2.3 Place equivalences | 18 | | |
| | | 1.2.4 Preservation of equivalences by refinements | 21 | | |
| | | 1.2.5 The equivalences on subclasses of Petri nets | 22 | | |
| | 1.3 | Petri nets with silent transitions | 25 | | |
| | | 1.3.1 Basic τ -equivalences | $\frac{-5}{26}$ | | |
| | | 1.3.2 Back-forth τ -equivalences | $\frac{-3}{28}$ | | |
| | | 1.3.3 Comparing equivalences with τ -equivalences | 31 | | |
| | | 1.3.4 Preservation of the τ -equivalences by refinements | 31 | | |
| | | 1.3.5 The τ -equivalences on some net subclasses | 33 | | |
| | | | | | |
| 2 | Time Petri nets 38 | | | | |
| | 2.1 | Basic definitions | 39 | | |
| | 2.2 | Time Petri nets without silent transitions | 39 | | |
| | | 2.2.1 Comparing the equivalences | 39 | | |
| | | 2.2.2 Preservation of the equivalences by time refinements | 40 | | |
| | | 2.2.3 The equivalences on untime Petri nets | 40 | | |
| | 2.3 | Time Petri nets with silent transitions | 41 | | |
| | | 2.3.1 Comparing the τ -equivalences | 42 | | |
| | | 2.3.2 Comparing equivalences and τ -equivalences | 43 | | |
| | | 2.3.3 Preservation of the τ -equivalences by time refinements | 43 | | |
| | | 2.3.4 The τ -equivalences on subclasses of time Petri nets with silent transitions | 43 | | |
| 9 | Dna | | 15 | | |
| 3 | 9 1 | Algebra of finite processing AED | 40 | | |
| | 3.1 | Algebra of finite processes AFF_2 | 40 | | |
| | | 3.1.1 Syntax | 47 | | |
| | | 3.1.2 Semantics | 41 | | |
| | | a.1.a Equivalences on A-nets a.1.a Comparing the net and challencia | 49 | | |
| | | 5.1.4 Comparing the net and algebraic equivalences | 51 | | |
| | | 3.1.5 Automatization checking for algebraic equivalences | 51 | | |
| | 3.2 | Algebra of finite labelled processes $AFLP_2$ | 54 | | |
| | | 3.2.1 Syntax | 55 | | |

| Conclusion | | 59 |
|------------|---|----|
| 3.2.5 | Defining of algebraic analogues of the basic net equivalences | 58 |
| 3.2.4 | Comparing the basic net and algebraic equivalences | 57 |
| 3.2.3 | Equivalences on weakly labelled A-nets | 56 |
| 3.2.2 | Semantics | 56 |

Introduction

Importance of the problem considered. Last years, computing machines and complexes with parallel and distributed architecture became widespread, since they provide a possibility to solve a permanently growing volume of computation problems. But the problem of behavioral analysis for such concurrent systems appeared to be more complex than that for usual sequential systems, because some components of the former can work with partial of complete independence each of another. Therefore, such a branch of computer science as theory of parallel systems and processes becomes more and more important. It deals with an investigation of behavior of concurrent systems with the use of different mathematical formalisms.

In concurrency theory, from the very beginning, a great attention was to a development of formal models for specification and analysis of systems with independent occurrence of actions. In addition to such standard models as languages, automata and transition systems [179, 234], also that like Petri nets [228], process algebras [194, 200, 161, 162], Hoare traces [168], Mazurkiewicz traces [190, 191], synchronization trees [291] and event structures [211, 289, 292, 293] have been introduced.

In the papers [250, 251], a classification and comparison of the basic models is considered, which is in accordance with the three following dichotomies:

- 1. structure / behavior;
- 2. interleaving / true concurrency;
- 3. linear time / branching time.

In structure models, the states of systems are clearly described, and behavioral aspects are hidden. In behavior models, the actions fulfilled by systems are explicit ones, and the states can be derived from behavior.

In interleaving models, concurrency of actions is simulated by their nondeterministic interleaving (i.e occurrence in all possible orders). In true concurrency models, it is interpreted as causal independence of actions.

In linear time models, conflict is not respected, i.e. the moment of behavior when nondeterministic choice among several ways of further computations ("futures" or "branches") happens. In branching time models, this information is completely represented.

Changing a particular model corresponds to the choice of an abstraction level of behavior, i.e. to the changing of semantics.

An alternative (and more convenient) approach consists in the choice of an expressive enough (structural or behavioral) formal model and consideration of different equivalences which provide one with a semantics or an equality criteria for a proper abstraction level corresponding to the two remaining dichotomies.

Among these formalisms, a structural model of Petri nets and a behavioral model of process algebras became most popular. As mentioned in [275], the main advantages of Petri nets consist in their ability for clear description of concurrency and long experience in both specification and analysis of parallel systems. In addition, the have useful graph representation. The main advantages of process algebras are in their modular nature, well developed equivalence notions, algebraic rules and complete proof systems. A considering these models together (in particular, a definition of a net semantics for algebraic formulas) provides one with a possibility to combine the best properties of both the formalisms.

A notion of equivalence is central in any theory of systems. Behavioral equivalences allow to compare systems taking into account particular aspects of their behavior and abstract from superfluous information. Equivalence relations are also used for behavior preserving reduction od systems and during verification, when the expected or high-level behavior of a system (specification) is compared with real or low-level one (implementation).

By present time, a lot of equivalences have been proposed. The most famous is the notion of bisimulation relation. Its great importance both for comparing and reduction of concurrent systems, proof of their correctness is mentioned many times in the literature.

The main known semantics defined by equivalences can be depicted by dots on the coordinate plane in Figure 1.

When moving along X axis, simulation of causality (or concurrency) grows: from interleaving semantics to true concurrent ones.

Moving along Y axis increases modeling of nondeterminism (conflict), i.e branching structure: from linear time semantics (trace) to branching time ones.

The following points on the X-axis are known.

- **Interleaving semantics** A process (i.e. a possible computation of a system) is associated with a sequence of actions in the order of their occurrence.
- **Step semantics** A process is associated with a sequence of multisets of actions.
- **Partial word semantics** A process is associated with a partially ordered multiset of actions (pomset) with ordering by causal dependence. In this semantics, one system can simulate another if the ordering in it's pomset is less strict or the same as in the pomset of the second system. Thus, a pomset may be simulated by a less sequential (or a more parallel) one.
- **Pomset semantics** A process is associated with a pomset, and the causal dependence relation should be preserved during simulation.
- **Process-net semantics** A process is associated with an acyclic conflict-free net (called causal net), and a simulation requires isomorphism of causal nets. For convenience, we shall call the equivalences in this semantics just "process" ones.

The following points on the Y-axis are known.

- **Trace semantics** The behavior of a system is completely defined by the set if it's processes. Two systems are considered to be equal in this semantics, if the sets of their processes coincide.
- **Bisimulation semantics** The branching structure of the behavior of a system is taken into account, i.e. the points of choice between several alternative extensions of a present process are respected.



Figure 1: Semantic coordinate plane

- **ST-bisimulation semantics** Actions are considered as having some internal structure (or they occur not instantaneously, but for some period of time). During simulation, the causal dependence of both the actions of an extending process and that of the working actions of the present process are respected.
- **History preserving semantics** This semantics takes into account the "past" of processes, i.e. the way how an extending process is causally connected with the present one.
- Conflict preserving semantics The information about all the conflicts is respected.
- **Isomorphism** This is the most strict semantics. Two systems are isomorphic if they differ only by names of their components.

In this branch of computer science, the following problems are open, and they are at present time a subject of a deep research.

- By now, there is no complete enough set of equivalences in all the considered semantics. Several candidates to fill the empty places on the coordinate plane in Figure 1 have been defined within different models, and this implies difficulty of their comparing. As mentioned in [159], for the systematic investigation of semantics of concurrent systems, it is worth considering all the possibilities for them to be equivalent. It results the better understanding of important properties of systems. On the other hand, for the practical purposes of specification and verification of the properties, it is of importance to have a number of suitable equivalence relations. In such a case, we are always able to choose the simplest possible viewpoint to the systems.
- Comparison equivalences provides one with understanding of their interrelations and nature, prevents of duplication of the known semantics. It leads to the decision which of the relations have to be additionally defined. By present time, a correlation on a number of important equivalences is not established.
- A problem of logical characterization of equivalences is of importance. It's decision offers one to consider behavior of systems in terms of formulas of temporal logics.
- Effective methods of systems' reduction which preserve their behavior modulo equivalences, are actual.
- During top-down design of systems and programs, one changes high structural abstraction level by low one. It is very important for the systems which had similar behaviors on one abstraction level to preserve this similarity on all the lower ones. Thus, one has to check which equivalence relations withstand an operation of refinement replacing some elementary components of systems by more complex structures. Presently, this question remains opened for a number of equivalences.
- Interrelations of concurrency and nondeterminism (conflict) like other peculiarities of concurrent systems often make an analysis of their behavior too intricate. Therefore, in the literature, a number of simpler subclasses of formal models have been proposed, which are suitable for practical purposes. It is actual to investigate equivalences on the mentioned subclasses to simplify checking of these relations, better understanding of their essential features and recovering complex behavioral information by simple one. This problem is also not well investigated.

- An important task is a development of equivalence notions for extensions of the known formal models (for example, by the notion of abstraction from invisible actions, adding a notion of time or a labelling of elementary events).
- A question about interconnections of equivalences defined in the frameworks of different formalisms is also actual. Its decision would provide one a possibility of changing specifications of a system in different models without changing of behavioral properties.

Purpose of the author's Ph.D. thesis [265] consists in the development of a number of methods and tools which can be useful for decision of the mentioned above problems.

Research methods are based on usage of the three important formal concurrency models: Petri nets, time Petri nets [192] and process algebras, their subclasses (sequential nets, strictly labelled nets, T-nets), extensions (nets with silent transitions, calculi of labelled processes) and apparatus of temporal logics.

New scientific achievements of the dissertation are the following.

- 1. On Petri nets both without and with silent transitions a wide set of behavioral equivalences have been proposed and investigated, which provide one with a possibility to abstract from structural and behavioral properties of modeled systems. These relations are distributed in the semantics from interleaving to true concurrency and from linear to branching time ones.
 - A diagram of interrelations of the mentioned equivalences has been obtained. A logical characterization of a number of equivalence notions has been proposed which can be used for treating behavior of concurrent systems in terms of temporal formulas. A method of effective net reduction has been described which preserves their behavior modulo equivalences.
 - Compositional aspects of behavior properties preservation for modeled systems have been explored.
 - Interrelation of equivalence notions on subclasses of nets has been established to simplify comparing their behavior and better understanding a nature of the relations.
- 2. On time Petri nets both without and with silent transitions a number of time, untime and regional equivalences have been investigated, which are able in different degree to take into account time aspects of behavior of modeled systems.
 - A correlation of the mentioned equivalences has been clarified. A regional characterization of time equivalences has been proposed, which simplifies check of the latter.
 - A compositional approach to the check of equivalences has been investigated.
 - Interrelation of equivalences on subclasses of time nets has been established.
- 3. Semantical equivalences of algebraic calculi and their extensions have been treated as well as their connections with net equivalence relations.
 - A new calculus of labelled nondeterministic concurrent processes $AFLP_2$ has been proposed, which is an extension of the known algebra AFP_2 (introduced by V.E. Kotov and L.A. Cherkasova) by labelling function. This labelling has offered a possibility of specifying much wider class of processes that of AFP_2 .

- A complete and correct axiomatization of the equivalences w.r.t. denotational semantics of the mentioned algebras has been proposed as well as operational characterization of these equivalences which can be used for comparing these notions with behavioral relations.
- Interrelations of the algebraic and net equivalences has been established, which results a translation net specifications into algebraic and vice versa with preservation of behavior. It has integrated the advantages both nets and algebras.
- A term rewrite system for automatization of check of semantic equivalences has been defined. On it's basis, a computer program for check of formulas for equivalence has been written.

Practical usefulness of the Ph.D. thesis consists in the introducing of a number of equivalence relations for comparison and reduction of concurrent systems. Their systematic investigation helps to developer of a concurrent system to make a decision about most suitable model and an equality criteria (semantics).

Implementation of the results consists in their usage in the Laboratory of Theoretical Programming of IIS SD RAS during development a module for check of net equivalences for the system PEP (Programming Environment based on Petri nets) [52]. This system has appeared in the Institute of Informatics, Hildesheim, Germany. In addition, the author had written a computer program CANON which implements a checking of algebraic formulas by equivalence.

Publication of the results has been done in the following 13 articles on a theme of the dissertation: [252, 253, 254, 255, 256, 257, 258, 259, 260, 261, 262, 263, 264, 286].

During research work by theme of the Ph.D. thesis, the author participated in the following scientific projects (with the information about grants):

- An Investigation of Methods for Analysis and Verification of Concurrent Computational Systems, Programs and Processes. Russian Fund for Basic Research (RFBR), grant 93-01-00986, headed by Dr. V.A. NEPOMNIASCHY, 1993–1995. (Publications [253, 255, 256].)
- 2. Models for Formal Semantics of Reactive Systems. International Association for Promotion of Cooperation with Scientists from the Former Soviet Union (INTAS), grant 1010-CT93-0048, headed by Dr. V.A. NEPOMNIASCHY, 1993–1995. (Publication [254].)
- Formal Methods in Design of Concurrent/Distributed Systems. Volkswagen Stiftung (VS), grant I/70 564, headed by PROF. DR. EIKE BEST and DR. I.B. VIRBITSKAITE, 1995– 1997. (Publications [257, 258, 259, 260, 261, 262, 263, 264, 286].)
- Development and Investigation of Semantical Methods and Tools of Specification and Verification of Concurrent Systems and Processes. Russian Fund for Basic Research (RFBR), grant 96-01-01655, headed by DR. I.B. VIRBITSKAITE, 1995–1997. (Publications [259, 260, 261, 262, 286].)
- Methods and Tools for Verification and Analysis of Distributed Systems. INTAS-RFBR, grant 95-0378, headed by Dr. V.A. NEPOMNIASCHY, 1997–1999. (Publications [263, 264].)
- International Soros Science Education Program (ISSEP), grant a97-683, 1997. (Publication [286].)

Approbation of the results has been done at the following conferences and schools:

- 4th International Conference on Applied Logics 95 (AL'95) and 2nd Workshop on Non-Standard Logics and Logical Foundations of Computer Sciences (NSL'95), Irkutsk, Russia, June 15–18, 1995.
- 2. 5th Workshop on Concurrency, Specification and Programming 96 (CSP'96), Berlin, Germany, September 25–27, 1996.
- 4th Symposium on Logical Foundations of Computer Science 97 (LFCS'97), Yaroslavl, Russia, July 6–12, 1997.
- 4. International Summer School Marktoberdorf on Computational Logic 97 (CL'97), Marktoberdorf, Germany, July 29 – August 10, 1997.
- 5. 4th Workshop on Logic, Languages, Information and Computation 97 (WoLLIC'97), Fortaleza (Ceará), Brazil, August 19–22, 1997.

In addition, a number of lectures by theme of the Ph.D. thesis have been delivered at seminars of Institute of Informatics, Hildesheim, Germany, during the author's research work in the periods 01.12.95 - 29.02.96 and 01.03.97 - 30.04.97 within joint scientific project VS I/70 564. The results obtained have been also discussed at seminars of Laboratory of Theoretical Programming of IIS SD RAS.

Let us briefly describe the **contents** of the dissertation.

Chapter 1 is devoted to the investigation of equivalences on Petri nets.

In Section 1.1, the basic definitions are presented. Section 1.2 is about equivalence notions on nets without silent transitions, and Section 1.3 — on nets with silent transitions.

Chapter 2 is devoted to the investigation of equivalences on time Petri nets.

In Section 2.1, the basic definitions are presented. Section 2.2 is about equivalence relations on time nets without silent transitions, and Section 2.3 — on time nets with silent transitions. Chapter 3 is devoted to the equivalences on process formulas.

In Section 3.1, the algebra AFP_2 is considered, and in Section 3.2 — the calculus $AFLP_2$. In Appendix A (Proofs), a number of long proofs is moved.

In Appendix B (Description of the program CANON), a structure and principles of work of computer program CANON are described, which implements transformation of algebraic formulas into canonical form.

In Appendix C (Examples of work of the program CANON), several examples of transformation of AFP_2 -formulas into canonical form using this program are presented.

The papers of the author are related with the themes of the chapters in the following way. By theme of Chapter 1 — [253, 254, 255, 257, 259, 261, 262, 263, 264], by Chapter 2 — [286] and by Chapter 3 — [252, 256, 258, 260].

In this survey, all the proofs, examples and appendices are omitted. The bibliography is not reduced, and therefore several items are possibly not cited here.

Chapter 1

Petri nets

Petri nets [228, 229, 230, 231, 243] is a suitable and powerful popular formal model both for specification and analysis of concurrent and distributed systems [222, 43, 44, 108]. Petri nets became widespread because of clear description such basic notions as causal dependence, non-determinism and concurrency. Their advantages are also good graphical representation and natural semantics of functioning based of rules of a "token game". Petri nets are actively used as a graphic tool for modeling of concurrent systems and processes at early stages of their development as a powerful analytical instrument in treating their behavioral properties.

In this chapter, equivalence notions are investigated on two classes of Petri nets: nets without silent transitions and nets with silent transitions (transitions can be labelled by a special symbol of invisible of silent action τ).

The main results of this chapter are the following.

- A number of known equivalence notions have been transferred into the framework of Petri nets from other formal models (for example, transition systems, event structures, behavioral structures, automata). As a result, a basis for their comparison and the decision which notions should be additionally defined has appeared.
- Several new equivalences for Petri nets have been introduced to obtain a complete enough set of them and filling empty places on the semantic coordinate plane in Figure 1. As a result, an ability for the choice of the simplest possible viewpoint to modeled systems has appeared. Moreover, the defining new semantics, which imitate in a new context that proposed earlier, can be avoided.
- Parametrized definitions of equivalences have been proposed, which offer their interpretation in a unified style and better understanding of nature of the relations.
- All the considered net equivalences have been compared, and a diagram of their interrelations is obtained which demonstrates differentiating power of the notions.
- A logical characterization of a number of equivalences has been given which offers investigation of behavior of nets using representation of their properties via formulas of temporal logics.
- The results by effective and semantic correct reduction of nets have been presented. The role of interrelations of equivalences in preservation of properties of a net to be reduced has been demonstrated.

- All the equivalences have been treated for preservation by refinement operation which corresponds to moving to lower structural abstraction level during construction of systems. As a result, it has been clarified, which equivalence relations can be used in top-down development of systems.
- A correlation of the equivalences on subclasses of nets has been investigated with the purposes of simplifying comparison of behavior of nets from the mentioned subclasses, better understanding a nature of equivalence relations and recovering complex behavioral information by the simpler one. It has been checked, which equivalences are differentiate well nets from the mentioned subclasses.

1.1 Basic definitions

In this section, in the main text of the dissertation, a number of basic definitions are introduced like that of multisets, labelled nets, marked nets, partially ordered sets (posets), labelled posets, partially ordered multisets (pomsets) [238], event structures, labelled event structures, multi event structures (i.e. event structures over multisets of actions) [211, 289, 292, 293], processes [34, 46, 150, 151] (based on causal nets) and branching processes [127, 169] (based on occurrence nets [152, 211, 229]).

1.2 Petri nets without silent transitions

Let us consider equivalences for Petri nets without silent transitions, which model systems all the actions of which are considered to be invisible for an external observer.

1.2.1 Basic equivalences

Let us see which mentioned in the literature equivalences fill the semantic coordinate plane in Figure 1.

- *Trace equivalences* (which respect only protocols of behavior of systems).
 - Interleaving trace equivalence (\equiv_i) has been introduced in [165, 166, 167] on languages. The definition is also in [216, 236, 241] on Petri nets, in [87, 130, 131, 136, 141, 142, 269, 272] on event structures and in [126] on common models of concurrent systems, and in [244].
 - Step trace equivalence (\equiv_s) . A definition for Petri nets can be found in [236, 241], on event structures in [130, 131, 136, 141, 142, 269, 272].
 - Partial word trace equivalence (\equiv_{pw}) . The notion has been defined [153] on pomsets and in [280] on event structures.
 - Pomset trace equivalence (\equiv_{pom}). The corresponding semantics has been introduced in [238, 239, 240]. The equivalence has been defined in [154, 241] on Petri nets and in [130, 131, 136, 141, 142, 269, 272] — on event structures.
- Usual bisimulation equivalences (which respect branching structure of behavior of systems).

- Interleaving bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_i)$ has been introduced in [223] on automata on the basis of observational equivalence [194, 176]. The definition can be also found in [224] on automata, in [1, 2, 16, 17, 26, 38, 39, 115, 154, 216, 241] — on Petri nets, in [87, 130, 131, 136, 141, 142, 269, 272, 277, 278, 282, 284] — on event structures, and in [126] — on common models of concurrent systems.
- Step bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_s)$ has been introduced in [214]. The definition on Petri nets is in [1, 2, 16, 17, 28, 154, 236, 241], and on event structures in [130, 131, 136, 141, 142, 277, 278, 282, 284].
- Partial word bisimulation equivalence $({\leftrightarrow}_{pw})$ has been introduced in [277, 278] on event structures. The definition on Petri nets can be found in [16, 17], and that for event structures also in [282, 284].
- Pomset bisimulation equivalence (\pm_{pom}) has been defined in [27, 154]. The definition on Petri nets is in [1, 2, 16, 17, 26, 38, 39, 241], and on event structures in [130, 131, 136, 141, 142, 277, 278, 282, 284].
- Process bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pr})$ has been proposed in [16] on Petri nets. The definition is also in [17].
- *ST-bisimulation equivalences* (which respect the duration of transition occurrences in behavior of systems).
 - Interleaving ST-bisimulation equivalence $({\leftrightarrow}_{iST})$ has been introduced in [154] on Petri nets. The definition for Petri nets can be also found in [26, 115], and for event structures in [141, 142, 277, 278, 282, 284].
 - Partial word ST-bisimulation equivalence $({\leftrightarrow}_{pwST})$ has been proposed in [277, 278] on event structures. The definition can be also found in [282, 284].
 - Pomset ST-bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pomST})$ has been introduced in [277, 278] on event structures. The definition is also in [282, 284].
- *History preserving bisimulation equivalences* (which respect the "past" or "history" of behavior of systems).
 - Pomset history preserving bisimulation equivalence (\leftrightarrow_{pomh}) has been proposed in [247] on behavioral structures under the name "behavioral structure bisimulation equivalence".

In [130], the equivalence has been introduced on event structures and called "history preserving bisimulation equivalence".

In [109], in the framework of event structures "causal trees observable equivalence" has been defined, the coincidence of which with history preserving bisimulation equivalence has been proved in [270, 110, 111].

In [120], NMS (Nondeterministic Measurement System) equivalence has been defined which is also coincide with history preserving bisimulation one.

In [4, 233, 83], it has been demonstrated that history preserving bisimulation equivalence coincide with "mixed orders equivalence" on event structures from [122].

In [95], "back-forth pomset bisimulation equivalence" on event structures has been proposed. This is also coincide with history preserving bisimulation one.

In [38], the definition has been introduced on Petri nets. In the paper, the notion has been called "fully concurrent bisimulation equivalence".

The definition for Petri nets can be also found in [26, 39, 113, 114, 115, 132, 241], for event structures — in [131, 133, 134, 135, 136, 141, 142, 277, 278, 279, 282, 284], and for behavioral structures — in [266].

- Conflict preserving equivalences (which fully respect conflicts in systems).
 - Occurrence conflict preserving equivalence (\equiv_{occ}) has been proposed in [211, 154] on Petri nets.
- Isomorphism (i.e. coincidence of systems up to renaming of their components, ≃) has been introduced in [228].

In the papers [73, 143, 144, 145, 160, 267, 274, 275, 276, 280, 282, 283, 285], a set of equivalences has been considered which are in between trace and bisimulation relations, i.e. within from "linear time" to "branching time" semantics [146].

A notion of distributed bisimulation has been introduced in [94, 162].

The equivalences based on "locations" has been studied in [32, 33, 82, 181, 205, 107]. A review of the set of relations based on "locations" and "causes" is in [83, 182]. Similar equivalences has been investigated in [83].

Reviews of equivalences has been done also in [81, 124, 235]. Pomset relations has been considered in [245].

In this section, we transfer all the basic equivalence notions into the framework of Petri nets. Moreover, we introduce a number of new basic equivalences which complete the set of the already known ones in the mentioned above semantics. These are process trace (\equiv_{pr}) , process ST-bisimulation (\leftrightarrow_{prST}) , process history preserving bisimulation (\leftrightarrow_{prh}) , multi event structure (MES) conflict preserving (\equiv_{mes}) equivalences. The symbols of the new relations are in rectangles in Figure 1.1.

We compare all the equivalences. As a result, we obtain a diagram of their interrelations as a oriented graph with edges corresponding to the relation "stronger than".

Comparing basic equivalences

The following theorem which establishes interrelations all the basic equivalences.

In the following, the symbol '_' will denote "nothing", and the signs of equivalences subscribed by it are considered as that of without any subscription.

Theorem 1.2.1 Let \leftrightarrow , $\iff \in \{\equiv, \stackrel{\leftrightarrow}{\leftarrow}, \simeq\}$ and $\star, \star \star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, pr, iST, pwST, pomST, prST, pomh, prh, mes, occ\}$. For nets N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$ in the graph in Figure 1.2.

1.2.2 Back-forth equivalences

Back-forth bisimulation equivalences are based on the idea that bisimulation relation do not only require systems to simulate each other behavior in the forward direction (as usually) but also when going back in history. They are closely connected with equivalences of logics with past modalities [88, 139, 187, 189] and "true concurrency" logics [225, 226, 227].

These equivalence notions have been initially introduced in [210] in the framework of transition systems. It has been shown that back-forth variant $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{ibif})$ of interleaving bisimulation equivalence coincide with ordinary $\underline{\leftrightarrow}_i$.



Figure 1.1: Classification of basic equivalences



Figure 1.2: Interrelations of the equivalences

In [105, 95, 96, 97], the new variants of step $({\leftrightarrow}_{sbsf})$, partial word $({\leftrightarrow}_{pwbpwf})$ and pomset $({\leftrightarrow}_{pombpomf})$ back-forth bisimulation equivalences have been defined in the framework of prime event structures. The equivalence notions have been compared with usual, ST- and history preserving bisimulation equivalences. It was shown that ${\leftrightarrow}_{pomST}$ implies ${\leftrightarrow}_{sbsf}$. The coincidence of ${\leftrightarrow}_{pombpomf}$ and ${\leftrightarrow}_{pomh}$ has been proved, giving rise to a new, logical characterization of the latter.

In [233], the new idea of differentiating the kinds of back and forth simulations has appeared (following this idea, it is possible, for example, to define step back pomset forth bisimulation equivalence (\bigoplus_{sbpomf})). The set of all possible back-forth equivalence notions has been proposed in interleaving, step, partial word and pomset semantics. Two new notions which do not coincide with known ones has been obtained: step back partial word forth (\bigoplus_{sbpwf}) and step back pomset forth (\bigoplus_{sbpwf}) bisimulation equivalences.

Back-forth bisimulation equivalences have been also considered in the papers [40, 170, 171, 207, 215].

In this section, we extend the set of back-forth equivalences from [233] by new relations for process semantics and obtain as a result two new notions which cannot be reduced to the known relations: step back process forth $(\leftrightarrow_{sbprf})$ and pomset back process forth $(\leftrightarrow_{pombprf})$ bisimulation equivalences.

We add the results of [97, 233] and establish interrelations between back-forth and basic equivalences. In particular, we prove that \Leftrightarrow_{pomST} implies \Leftrightarrow_{sbpomf} , and \Leftrightarrow_{prST} implies \Leftrightarrow_{sbprf} . We also demonstrate a coincidence of \Leftrightarrow_{prbprf} and \Leftrightarrow_{prh} .

Comparing back-forth bisimulation equivalences

Let us consider interrelations of back-forth bisimulation equivalences.

Proposition 1.2.1 Let $\star \in \{i, s, pw, pom, pr\}$. For nets N and N' the following holds:

1. $N \underset{pwb \star f}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{pomb \star f}{\leftrightarrow} N';$



 $\stackrel{\longleftrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} prbprf$ $\stackrel{\longleftrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} pombpomf$ - $\stackrel{\longleftrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} pombprf$ $\stackrel{\longleftrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} sbpomf$ $\underline{\longleftrightarrow} sbsf$ $\stackrel{\longleftrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} sbpwf$ \overleftrightarrow sbprf $\stackrel{\longleftrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} ibif$ $\underline{\longleftrightarrow}ibpwf$ $\underline{\longleftrightarrow} \textit{ibpomf}$ $\overleftrightarrow{ibprf}$ $\underline{\leftrightarrow}ibsf$

Figure 1.3: Merging of back-forth bisimulation equivalences

Figure 1.4: Interrelations of back-forth bisimulation equivalences

2.
$$N \underset{\star bif}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{\star b \star f}{\leftrightarrow} N'$$
.

In Figure 1.3, dashed lines embrace coinciding back-forth bisimulation equivalences.

Hence, interrelations of back-forth bisimulation equivalences may be represented by graph in Figure 1.4.

Comparing back-forth bisimulation equivalences with basic equivalences

Let us consider interrelations of back-forth bisimulation equivalences with basic equivalences.

Proposition 1.2.2 Let $\star \in \{i, s, pw, pom, pr\}$ and $\star \star \in \{pom, pr\}$. For nets N and N' the following holds:

- 1. $N \underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_{ib \star f} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_{\star} N';$
- 2. $N \underset{\star \star b \star \star f}{\longleftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{\star \star h}{\longleftrightarrow} N';$
- 3. $N \underset{\star \star ST}{\longleftrightarrow} N' \Rightarrow N \underset{sb \star \star f}{\longleftrightarrow} N'.$



Figure 1.5: Interrelations of back-forth bisimulation equivalences with basic equivalences

Theorem 1.2.2 Let \leftrightarrow , $\ll \in \{\equiv, \underline{\leftrightarrow}, \simeq\}$ and $\star, \star \star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, pr, iST, pwST, pomST, prST, pomh, prh, mes, occ, sbsf, sbpwf, sbpomf, sbprf, pombprf\}. For nets N and N' N <math>\leftrightarrow_{\star}$ N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff in the graph in Figure 1.5 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$.

Logical characterization

In this section, we demonstrate that several important back-forth bisimulation equivalences coincide with that of temporal logics having past modalities. These results provide a logical characterization of bisimulation equivalences (or, dually, an operational characterization of logical ones).

Logic HML Logic of Hennessy-Milner (HML) has been introduced in [164] on transition systems for logical description of interleaving bisimulation equivalence.

Standard logical equivalence of the logic on Petri nets is denoted by $=_{HML}$. We call a Petri net to be *image finite* one if its' processes can be extended by any particular action only in finite number of ways.

Theorem 1.2.3 [164] For image-finite nets N and N' $N \leftrightarrow N' \Leftrightarrow N \leftarrow ibif N' \Leftrightarrow N =_{HML} N'$.

Logic PBFL Pomset back-forth logic (PBFL) has been proposed in [88] on event structures for logical description of pomset back pomset forth bisimulation equivalence.

Standard logical equivalence of the logic on Petri nets is denoted by $=_{PBFL}$.

Theorem 1.2.4 [88] For image-finite nets N and N' $N \underset{pomh}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{pombpomf}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N =_{PBFL} N'.$

Logic PrBFL We introduce the new process back-fort logic (PrBFL) for logical description of process back process forth bisimulation equivalence.

Standard logical equivalence of the logic on Petri nets is denoted by $=_{PrBFL}$.

Theorem 1.2.5 For image-finite nets N and N' $N \leftrightarrow_{prh} N' \Leftrightarrow N \leftrightarrow_{prbprf} N' \Leftrightarrow N =_{PrBFL} N'$.

1.2.3 Place equivalences

Place bisimulation equivalences have been initially introduced in [1] on the basis of definition from [219, 220, 221]. Place bisimulations are relations over places instead of markings or processes. The relation on markings is obtained using the *"lifting"* of relation on places.

The main application of place bisimulation equivalences is an effective behavior preserving reduction technique for Petri nets based on them.

In [1, 2], interleaving place bisimulation equivalence (\sim_i) has been proposed. In these papers, also strict interleaving place bisimulation equivalence (\approx_i) has been defined, by imposing the additional requirement stating that corresponding transitions of nets must be related by bisimulation. The question about possibility to introduce history preserving place bisimulation equivalence was addressed.

In [16, 17], step (\sim_s), partial word (\sim_{pw}), pomset (\sim_{pom}), process (\sim_{pr}) place bisimulation equivalences and their strict analogues ($\approx_s, \approx_{pw}, \approx_{pom}, \approx_{pr}$) have been proposed. The coincidence of \sim_i, \sim_s and \sim_{pw} has been established. Also it was shown that all strict bisimulation equivalences coincide with \sim_{pr} . Therefore, we have only three different equivalences: \sim_i, \sim_{pom} and \sim_{pr} . In addition, in these papers the polynomial algorithm of net reduction was



 \sim_i \leftarrow \sim_{pom} \leftarrow pr

Figure 1.7: Interrelations of place bisimulation equivalences

proposed which preserves the behavior of a net (i.e. the initial and reduced nets are bisimulation equivalent).

In this section, we compare place bisimulation equivalences with back-forth bisimulation and basic ones and extend the results of [16, 17].

In particular, we prove that \sim_{pr} implies $\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\longrightarrow}_{prh}$ and answer the question from [1]: \sim_{pr} is strict enough to preserve the "histories" of a net functioning. Hence, it is no sense to define history preserving place bisimulation equivalence.

Since ST- and history preserving bisimulation equivalences are consequences of \sim_{pr} , the algorithm of net reduction from [16, 17], based on this equivalence, preserves the *timed traces* [154] of the initial net (since ST-bisimulation equivalences are *real time consistent* [154]) and "histories" of its functioning (since history preserving bisimulation equivalences respect the "past" of processes).

Comparing place bisimulation equivalences

Let us consider interrelations of place bisimulation equivalences.

Proposition 1.2.3 [16, 17] For nets N and N':

- 1. $N \sim_i N' \Leftrightarrow N \sim_{pw} N';$
- 2. $N \sim_{pr} N' \Leftrightarrow N \approx_i N' \Leftrightarrow N \approx_{pr} N'$.

In Figure 1.6, dashed lines embrace coinciding place bisimulation equivalences.

Hence, interrelations of place bisimulation equivalences may be represented by graph in Figure 1.7.

Comparing place bisimulation equivalences with basic equivalences and back-forth bisimulation ones

Let us consider interrelations of place bisimulation equivalences with basic equivalences and back-forth bisimulation equivalences.

Proposition 1.2.4 For nets N and N' $N \sim_{pr} N' \Rightarrow N \underset{prh}{\leftrightarrow} N'$.



Figure 1.8: Interrelations of place bisimulation equivalences with basic equivalences and backforth bisimulation equivalences

Theorem 1.2.6 Let \leftrightarrow , $\ll \in \{\equiv, \leq, \sim, \sim\}$, $\star, \star \star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, pr, iST, pwST, pomST prST, pomh, prh, mes, occ, sbsf, sbpwf, sbpomf, sbprf, pombprf \}$. For nets N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff in the graph in Figure 1.8 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$.

Reduction of nets based on place bisimulation equivalences

In the literature, a lot o reduction methods for Petri nets have been proposed (see, for example, [209]). Unfortunately, many of them are local, not always effective, or they preserve few behavioral properties [16, 17, 15].

Place bisimulations offer an effective, global and semantic correct simplification of nets [16, 17]. The basic idea consists in considering so called place "autobisimulation" equivalences, i.e. the equivalences between a net and itself. After this, one is to merge equivalent places and reduce superfluous transitions and arcs.

In the papers [16, 17], the algorithm is based on \sim_i .

The following results concerning \sim_{pom} and \sim_{pr} are known.

We cannot use \sim_{pom} for simplification of nets, since in [16, 17], an example is presented when for a net N the following holds: $N \not\sim_{pom} N/_{\sim_{pom}}$.

Since \sim_{pr} coincide with \approx_i , we can slightly modify an algorithm for \mathcal{R}_i to obtain \mathcal{R}_{pr} : we shall check by bisimulation all the pairs of transitions which appear during treating for the transfer property. The complexity of the algorithm will be the same. Thus, it is possible to reduce net effectively modulo \sim_{pr} .

We have established interrelations of \sim_{pr} with the other equivalences, and this provides us with the following important results.

- Since \sim_{pr} implies $\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{prh}$ and $\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{prST}$, a reduced net has the same histories of behavior and timed traces [154] as the initial one.
- Since \leftrightarrow_{prh} coincide with $=_{PrBFL}$ then all the properties described by formulas of logic PrBFL are preserved in the reduced net.

1.2.4 Preservation of equivalences by refinements

When considering the nets related by some equivalence, the question appears, whether this equivalence is preserved by some equal transformation of the nets. During top-down development of distributed systems, a transformation called *refinement* is applied [106]. In accordance to the concept of refinement, the actions (or states) which were considered to be atomic on one abstraction level, become having some internal structure on the lower level.

By now, a notion of refinement is a subject of deep research as in the framework of net models [57, 110, 112, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137, 138, 141, 142, 143, 157, 213, 237, 273, 274, 275, 276, 280, 284], as in the process algebras [6, 7, 8, 208].

In this section, we consider transition refinement, in accordance to which the transitions of a net which are labeled by some particular action are replaced by subnets of a special kind: so-named, SM-nets, a subclass of state machine nets or S-nets [39].

Let us note that in the literature, preservation by SM-refinements has been proved only for $\underset{iST}{\hookrightarrow}_{iST}$ [114, 115] and $\underset{pomh}{\leftrightarrow}_{pomh}$ [39]. For \simeq , the property is obvious. In [106], preservation of \equiv_{pom} has been demonstrated, but it has been done on the other model and for another refinement operator. Analogously, the property for $\underset{pwST}{\leftrightarrow}_{pwST}$ and $\underset{pomST}{\leftrightarrow}_{pomST}$ has been established in [278, 282], but it has been done in the framework of event structures, and another type of refinement has been applied (which, for example, does not permit conflicts in a substituted event structure).



Figure 1.9: Preservation of the equivalences by SM-refinements

The new results, considered in this section, are proofs of preservation by SM-refinements of $\equiv_{\star}, \stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\longrightarrow}_{sT}, \star \in \{pw, pom, pr\}$ and $\equiv_{mes}, \equiv_{occ}$. Very important result is preservation of \sim_{pr} by SM-refinements. The consequence is the possibility to use the reduction method for nets based on this equivalence during top-down design of systems. In addition, using counterexamples, we demonstrate that none from the other considered equivalences have the property.

Theorem 1.2.7 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv, \leq, \sim, \sim\}$ and $\star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, pr, iST, pwST, pomST, prST, pomh, prh, mes, occ, sbsf, sbpwf, sbprf, pombprf \}. For nets <math>N, N'$ s.t. $a \in l_N(T_N) \cap l_{N'}(T_{N'}) \cap Act$ and SM-net D the following holds: $N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow ref(N, a, D) \leftrightarrow_{\star} ref(N', a, D)$ iff the equivalence \leftrightarrow_{\star} is in oval in Figure 1.9.

1.2.5 The equivalences on subclasses of Petri nets

In the literature, a number of Petri net subclasses have been proposed via imposing some restrictions on the initial definition of nets. Thus, the considered equivalences can become more dependent each of another, or the can even merge on such nets.

The results for net subclasses can be found in [1, 89, 241, 294], and on restrictions of other formal models — in [12, 126, 269, 271, 272].

These results can be used as for simplification of checking nets by an equivalence as for recovering some complex information about their behavior by simpler one. For example, in [180], it was described how to recover partial languages of P/T nets by the set of their step traces.

Interrelations of concurrency and nondeterminism essentially complicate analysis of systems. Therefore, in Petri net theory, the subclasses of nets have been introduced in which there is the only aspect from the two mentioned above.

In this section, we shall consider such subclasses of Petri nets like sequential nets [39], where parallel firing of transitions is impossible, and T-nets [246], where conflict transitions do not exist.

It is well-known that labelled Petri net have more modeling power than that without labeling. Therefore, it is interesting to consider just another subclass of Petri nets: strictly labeled nets [39], where no two different transitions may be labeled by the same action. Consequently, these nets may be considered as unlabeled, if identify the names of transitions with their labels.

Let us note that, in the literature, only $\underline{\leftrightarrow}_i, \underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pom}$ and $\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pomh}$ have been treated on sequential nets [39]. No equivalences have been compared on T-nets. In [241], on strictly labeled nets, only a little set of equivalences have been compared which has contained $\equiv_{\star}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}_{\star}, \star \in \{i, s, pom\}$ and $\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pomh}$.

Thus, interrelations of equivalences from such a wide set are investigated for the first time, and it can be considered as a new result.

The equivalences on sequential nets

Let us consider the equivalences on sequential nets, where no two transitions can be fired concurrently.

Proposition 1.2.5 For sequential nets N and N':

- 1. $N \equiv_i N' \Leftrightarrow N \equiv_{pom} N';$
- 2. [241] $N \leftrightarrow N' \Leftrightarrow N \leftrightarrow pomh N';$
- 3. $N \underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pr} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pombprf} N';$
- 4. $N \underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_{pr} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_{pombprf} N';$
- 5. $N \sim_i N' \Leftrightarrow N \sim_{pom} N'$.

In Figure 1.10, dashed lines embrace the equivalences coinciding on sequential nets.

Theorem 1.2.8 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv, \leq, \sim, \simeq\}, \star, \star \neq \{=, i, pr, prST, prh, mes, occ\}$. For sequential nets N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff in the graph in Figure 1.11 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$.

The equivalences on strictly labeled nets

Let us consider the equivalences on strictly labeled nets where no two different transitions may have the same label.

Proposition 1.2.6 Let $\star \in \{i, s, pw, pom, pr\}$. For strictly labeled nets N and N':

- 1. $N \equiv_{\star} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{\longrightarrow}{\leftrightarrow} N';$
- 2. $N \underline{\leftrightarrow}_s N' \Leftrightarrow N \underline{\leftrightarrow}_{iST} N'$.

In Figure 1.12, dashed lines embrace the equivalences coinciding on strictly labeled nets.



Figure 1.10: Merging of the equivalences on sequential nets



Figure 1.11: Interrelations of the equivalences on sequential nets



Figure 1.12: Merging of the equivalences on strictly labeled nets

The equivalences on T-nets

Let us consider the equivalences on T-nets where no two transitions may have common input or output place (i.e. to be in the forward or the backward conflict). Merging of equivalences is obtained on even more restricted subclass: T-nets without autoconcurrency, where, in addition to the previous requirement, no two equally labeled transitions cam be fired in parallel at any reachable marking.

Proposition 1.2.7 For T-nets without autoconcurrency N and N' $N \equiv_i N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{i \in T}{\leftrightarrow} N'$.

In Figure 1.13, dashed lines embrace the equivalences coinciding on T-nets without autoconcurrency.

1.3 Petri nets with silent transitions

In this section, we consider an extension of Petri nets by silent transitions. Silent transitions are that of labelled by special *silent* action τ which represents an internal activity of a system to be modeled and it is invisible for an external observer which examines the behavior of the system. Nevertheless, silent action can influence the behavior. It is well-known that Petri nets with silent transitions are more powerful than usual ones.

Equivalences which abstract of silent actions are called τ -equivalences (these are labelled by the symbol τ to distinguish them of relations not abstracting of silent actions).



Figure 1.13: Merging of the equivalences on T-nets without autoconcurrency

 τ -equivalences coincide with the considered before ones on Petri nets without silent transitions. Since usual Petri nets are a subclass of that with silent transitions, several implications between usual equivalences can become not valid anymore between their τ -analogues.

In [277, 278, 282, 284], an example on event structures with silent actions has been considered demonstrating an independence of ST- and history preserving τ -bisimulation equivalences.

1.3.1 Basic τ -equivalences

The following basic notions of τ -equivalences are known from the literature.

- τ -trace equivalences (they respect only protocols of behavior of systems).
 - Interleaving τ -trace equivalence (\equiv_i^{τ}) has been introduced in [236] on Petri nets. The definition on transition systems is in [145].
 - Step τ -trace equivalence (\equiv_s^{τ}) has been defined in [236] on Petri nets.
 - Partial word τ -trace equivalence (\equiv_{pw}^{τ}) has been proposed in [279] on Petri nets.
 - Pomset τ -trace equivalence (\equiv_{pom}^{τ}) has been defined in [236] on Petri nets.
- Usual τ -bisimulation equivalences (they respect branching structure of behavior of systems).
 - Interleaving τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_i^{\tau})$ has been introduced in [194] on transition systems and in [236, 241] on Petri nets. The definition for transition systems is also in [145].

- Step τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_s^{\tau})$ has been defined in [236] on Petri nets.
- Partial word τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_{pw}^{\tau})$ has been proposed in [278] on Petri nets.
- Pomset τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pom}^{\tau})$ has been defined in [236] on Petri nets.
- ST- τ -bisimulation equivalences (they respect the duration or maximality of events in behavior of systems).
 - Interleaving ST- τ -bisimulation equivalence $({\underline{\leftrightarrow}}_{iST}^{\tau})$ has been introduced in [278] on Petri nets.
 - Partial word ST- τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underset{pwST}{\leftrightarrow})$ [278] on Petri nets.
 - Pomset ST- τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underset{pomST}{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau})$ has [278] on Petri nets.
- History preserving τ -bisimulation equivalences (they respect the "past" or "history" of behavior of systems).
 - Pomset history preserving τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underset{pomh}{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau})$ has been defined in [113, 114, 115] on Petri nets.
- History preserving ST- τ -bisimulation equivalences (they respect the "history" and the duration or maximality of events in behavior of systems).
 - Pomset history preserving ST- τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underset{pomhST}{\leftrightarrow})$ has been proposed in [113, 114, 115] on Petri nets.
- Usual branching τ -bisimulation equivalences (they respect branching structure of behavior of systems taking a special care for silent actions).
 - Interleaving branching τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{ibr}^{\tau})$ has been defined in [155, 156, 144, 158, 145, 146, 159] on transition systems and in [241] on Petri nets.
- History preserving branching τ -bisimulation equivalences (they respect "history" and branching structure of behavior of systems taking a special care for silent actions).
 - Pomset history preserving branching τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{pomhbr}^{\tau})$ has been introduced in [113] on Petri nets.

In addition, a number of other τ -equivalences have been defined, and the review of most of them can be found in [145] on transition systems. Among them are the following notions.

Interleaving semi-branching τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underset{isbr}{\leftrightarrow}_{isbr})$ has been proposed in [155, 156] on transition systems.

Interleaving quasi-branching τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_{iqbr})$ has been defined in [96] on event structures. The definition on transition systems is in [45], and in this paper it is called "branching bisimulation equivalence".

Interleaving η - τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{i\eta}^{\tau})$ has been introduced in [53] on transition systems.

Interleaving Δ - τ -bisimulation equivalence ($\overleftrightarrow_{i\Delta}^{\tau}$) has been proposed in [195, 287] and in [288] (where it is called "delay bisimulation equivalence") on transition systems.



Figure 1.14: Interrelations of basic τ -equivalences

In this section, we transfer the mentioned above τ -equivalences into the framework of Petri nets. We also extend the set of basic notions of τ -equivalences by τ -conflict preserving (they completely respect conflict): multi event structure τ -conflict preserving equivalence (\equiv_{mes}^{τ}) is introduced.

We compare all the basic τ -equivalences and establish their interrelations.

Comparing basic τ -equivalences

The following theorem which establishes interrelations all the basic τ -equivalences.

Theorem 1.3.1 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv^{\tau}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau}, \simeq\}, \star, \star \star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, iST, pwST, pomST, pomh, pomhST, ibr, pomhbr, mes\}.$ For nets N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff in the graph in Figure 1.14 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star\star}$.

1.3.2 Back-forth τ -equivalences

In this section, we consider back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences. The following notions of them have been proposed in the literature.

In [210], interleaving back interleaving forth τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_{ibif}^{\tau})$ has been defined on transition systems with silent actions. In the paper, it has been demonstrated its coincidence with $\underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_{ibr}^{\tau}$.

In [233], on event structures with silent actions, pomset back pomset forth τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underset{pombpomf}{\leftrightarrow})$ has been introduced, and its coincidence with $\underset{pombpr}{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau}$ has been proved.

We complete these back-forth τ -equivalences by 6 new notions: interleaving back step forth $(\underset{ibpomf}{\leftrightarrow})$, interleaving back partial word forth $(\underset{ibpwf}{\leftrightarrow})$, interleaving back pomset forth $(\underset{ibpomf}{\leftrightarrow})$,



Figure 1.15: Merging of back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences



Figure 1.16: Interrelations of back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences

step back step forth $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{sbsf}^{\tau})$, step back partial word forth $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{sbpwf}^{\tau})$ and step back pomset forth $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_{sbpomf}^{\tau})$ τ -bisimulation equivalences.

We also compare all back-forth τ -equivalences with the set of basic τ -relations.

Comparing back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences

Let us exam interrelations of back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences.

Proposition 1.3.1 Let $\star \in \{i, s, pw, pom\}$. For nets N and N':

1.
$$N \stackrel{\tau}{\longleftrightarrow}_{pwb \star f} N' \Leftrightarrow N \stackrel{\tau}{\longleftrightarrow}_{pomb \star f} N';$$

2.
$$N \underset{\star bif}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{\star b\star f}{\leftrightarrow} N'.$$

In Figure 1.15, dashed lines embrace coinciding back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences.

Hence, interrelations of back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences may be represented by graph in Figure 1.16.

Interrelations of back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences with basic τ -equivalences

Let us consider compare back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences with basic τ -equivalences.

Proposition 1.3.2 For nets N and N':



Figure 1.17: Interrelations of back-forth τ -bisimulation equivalences with basic τ -equivalences

- 1. $N \underset{ibif}{\leftrightarrow} T' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{ibr}{\leftrightarrow} T';$
- 2. $N \underset{pombpomf}{\leftrightarrow} \tau N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{pomhbr}{\leftrightarrow} \tau N'.$

Theorem 1.3.2 Let $\leftrightarrow, \iff \in \{\equiv^{\tau}, \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\longrightarrow}^{\tau}, \simeq\}$ and $\star, \star \star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, iST, pwST, pomST, pomh, pomhST, ibr, pomhbr, mes, ibsf, ibpwf, ibpomf, sbsf, sbpwf, sbpomf \}. For nets N and N' <math>N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N \iff_{\star\star} N'$ iff in the graph in Figure 1.17 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$.

Logical characterization

In this section, we demonstrate that several important back-forth (and branching) bisimulation equivalences coincide with that of temporal logics having past modalities. These results provide a logical characterization of bisimulation equivalences (or, dually, an operational characterization of logical ones).

Logic *BFL* Standard logical equivalence of the logic on Petri nets is denoted by $=_{BFL}$.

A back-forth logic (BFL) has been proposed in [210] in the framework of transition systems for a logical description of the interleaving back interleaving forth bisimulation equivalence.

Theorem 1.3.3 [210] For two image-finite nets with invisible transitions N and N' $N \underset{ibr}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{ibit}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N =_{BFL} N'.$

Logic SPBFL A pomset back-forth logic with invisible actions (SPBFL) has been proposed in [233] in the framework of event structures for a logical description of the pomset back pomset forth bisimulation equivalence.

Standard logical equivalence of the logic on Petri nets is denoted by $=_{SPBFL}$.

Theorem 1.3.4 [233] For two image-finite nets with invisible transitions N and N' $N \underset{pomhbr}{\leftrightarrow} \tau_{pomhbr} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{pombpomf}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N =_{SPBFL} N'.$

1.3.3 Comparing equivalences with τ -equivalences

In this section, we compare equivalences which do not abstract of silent actions with all the considered τ -equivalences.

Proposition 1.3.3 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv, \pm\}$, $\star \in \{i, s, pw, pom, iST, pwST, pomST, mes, sbsf, sbpwf, sbpomf\}, <math>\star \star \in \{s, pw, pom\}$. For nets N and N':

1. $N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N \leftrightarrow_{\star}^{\tau} N';$

2.
$$N \underline{\leftrightarrow}_i N' \Rightarrow N \underline{\leftrightarrow}_{ibr}^{\tau} N';$$

- 3. $N \underset{iST}{\leftrightarrow} N' \Rightarrow N \underset{iSTbr}{\leftrightarrow} N';$
- 4. $N \underset{pomh}{\leftrightarrow} pomh N' \Rightarrow N \underset{pomhSTbr}{\leftrightarrow} \tau_{pomhSTbr} N';$
- 5. $N \underset{\star \star}{\longleftrightarrow} N' \Rightarrow N \underset{ib \star \star f}{\longleftrightarrow} N'.$

and all the implications are strict.

1.3.4 Preservation of the τ -equivalences by refinements

In this section, we treat the considered τ -equivalences for preservation by SM-refinements.

In the literature, preservation by SM-refinements has been proved only for $\underset{iST}{\leftrightarrow}_{iST}^{\tau}$ and $\underset{pomhST}{\leftrightarrow}_{pomhST}$ in [114, 115]. The property is obvious for \simeq . The preservation of $\underset{pwST}{\leftrightarrow}_{pwST}^{\tau}$ and $\underset{pomST}{\leftrightarrow}_{pomST}$ has been demonstrated in [278, 282], but it has been done within framework of event structures, and another refinement operator has been used. The preservation of trace τ -equivalences was not established before.

Thus, our results for $\equiv_{\star ST}^{\tau}, \ \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\longrightarrow}_{\star ST}^{\tau}, \ \star \in \{pw, pom\}$ and \equiv_{mes}^{τ} are new.

Let us consider the following proposition which demonstrates that some considered in the paper equivalence notions are not preserved by SM-refinements.

Proposition 1.3.4 Let $\star \in \{i, s\}$, $\star \star \in \{i, s, pw, pom, pomh, ibr, pomhbr, ibsf, ibpwf, ibpomf, sbsf, sbpwf, sbpomf\}$. Then the τ -equivalences \equiv_{\star}^{τ} , $\stackrel{\leftarrow}{=}_{\star}^{\tau}$ are not preserved by SM-refinements.

Theorem 1.3.5 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv^{\tau}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau}, \simeq\}$ and $\star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, iST, pwST, pomST, pomh, pomhST, ibr, pomhbr, mes, ibsf, ibpwf, ibpomf, sbsf, sbpwf, sbpomf\}.$ For nets N, N' s.t. $a \in l_N(T_N) \cap l_{N'}(T_{N'}) \cap Act$ and SM-net D the following holds: $N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow ref(N, a, D) \leftrightarrow_{\star} ref(N', a, D)$ iff the equivalence \leftrightarrow_{\star} is in oval in Figure 1.18.



Figure 1.18: The τ -equivalences which are not preserved by SM-refinements

1.3.5 The τ -equivalences on some net subclasses

In this section, we consider the τ -equivalences on nets without silent transitions and sequential nets. Let us note that, in the literature, only $\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\longrightarrow}_{i}^{\tau}, \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\longrightarrow}_{pom}^{\tau}$ and $\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\longrightarrow}_{pomh}^{\tau}$ have been considered on sequential nets in [39].

The τ -equivalences on nets without silent transitions

Let us consider the τ -equivalences on nets without silent transitions, where no transition is labelled by the action τ .

Proposition 1.3.5 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv, \underline{\leftrightarrow}\}, \star \in \{i, s, pw, pom, iST, pwST, pomST, mes, sbsf, sbpwf, sbpomf\}, \star \star \in \{s, pw, pom\}$. For nets without silent transitions N and N':

- 1. $N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Leftrightarrow N \leftrightarrow_{\star}^{\tau} N';$
- 2. $N \underset{pomh}{\leftrightarrow} pomh N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{pomhST}{\leftrightarrow} \gamma_{romhST} N';$
- 3. $N \underline{\leftrightarrow}_i N' \Leftrightarrow N \underline{\leftrightarrow}_{ibr}^{\tau} N';$
- 4. $N \underset{pomh}{\leftrightarrow} pomhN' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{pomhSTbr}{\leftrightarrow} \tau$
- 5. $N \underset{\star \star}{\longleftrightarrow} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{ib \star \star f}{\longleftrightarrow} T'.$

In Figure 1.19, dashed lines embrace the τ -equivalences coinciding on nets without silent transitions.

Theorem 1.3.6 Let \leftrightarrow , $\ll \in \{\equiv, \underline{\leftrightarrow}, \simeq\}$, $\star, \star \star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, iST, pwST, pomST, pomh, ibr, mes, sbsf, sbpwf, sbpomf\}$. For nets without silent transitions N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff in the graph in Figure 1.20 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$.

The τ -equivalences on sequential nets

Let us consider the τ -equivalences on sequential nets, where no two transitions can be fired concurrently.

Proposition 1.3.6 For sequential nets N and N':

- 1. $N \equiv_i^{\tau} N' \Leftrightarrow N \equiv_{pom}^{\tau} N';$
- 2. $N \underset{i}{\leftrightarrow} \overset{\tau}{\to} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{nomh}{\leftrightarrow} \overset{\tau}{\to} N';$
- 3. $N \underset{iST}{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{pomhST}{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau} N';$
- 4. $N \underset{ibr}{\leftrightarrow} {}^{\tau}N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{pomhbr}{\leftrightarrow} {}^{\tau}N'.$

In Figure 1.21, dashed lines embrace the τ -equivalences coinciding on sequential nets.



Figure 1.19: Merging of the τ -equivalences on nets without silent transitions



Figure 1.20: Interrelations of the τ -equivalences on nets without silent transitions


Figure 1.21: Merging of the τ -equivalences on sequential nets

Theorem 1.3.7 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv^{\tau}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau}, \simeq\}, \star, \star \star \in \{_, i, iST, ibr, mes\}$. For sequential nets N and $N' \ N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N \ll_{\star\star} N'$ iff in the graph in Figure 1.11 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$.



Figure 1.22: Interrelations of the $\tau\text{-}\mathrm{equivalences}$ on sequential nets

Chapter 2

Time Petri nets

Last years, one can see growing interest to real time systems. Hence, there appears a need to embed the notion of time into formal models of systems. A number of specification and analysis methods have been developed which respect time aspects of behavior.

But much less research work has been done to introduce a notion of time into equivalence relations. In several papers [5, 85] by this subject, mainly decidability questions have been discussed.

In the papers, real time systems are modeled by parallel timer processes or time automata containing time measuring elements called clocks. However, concurrency can not be modeled directly by such models.

On the other hand, in the papers [192, 84] time Petri nets have been introduced which are an extension of Petri nets by components respecting time. A time Petri net works in one of two ways: firing of transitions or delaying for some time. Usage of time nets for verification is described, for example, in [295]. In [249], the ideas about history preserving reduction of time nets has been presented.

In this chapter, equivalence notions are investigated on two classes of time Petri nets: that without and with silent transitions.

The main results of this chapter are the following.

- A number of known equivalences have been transferred on time Petri nets from other formal models (for example, time transition systems, parallel timer processes, time automata and algebras of time processes).
- New time (respecting time aspects) and untime (abstracting of time aspects) equivalence relations have been introduced. The purpose was to obtain complete enough set of them to be able to choose available semantics.
- A characterization of time equivalences via regional relations has been done. These relations are based on a concept of regions, which unify infinite number of intermediate states. The states in a region differ each from anther only by value of time counter, and they do not differ in influence to behavior of a time net. Thus, due to the big reduction of states, a checking of time equivalences is simplified.
- A comparison of all the equivalences has been done, and the complete picture of their interrelations has been obtained which demonstrate a differentiating power of them.
- The new operation of time refinement has been introduced, which allows one to change level of structural abstraction while preserving of time delays.

- All the equivalence have been checked for preservation by time refinements to find possible candidates which cam be used during top-down design of time systems.
- Interrelations of equivalences on subclasses of time nets has been investigated. This clarify a nature of the relations and makes easier checking of them.

2.1 Basic definitions

In this section, in the main text of the dissertation, we present basic definitions of time Petri nets, connected with time aspects of their behavior. We use slight modification of model from [192] with time from nonnegative reals and decreasing timers.

2.2 Time Petri nets without silent transitions

Let us consider equivalences for time Petri nets without silent transitions which model systems, all actions of which are considered to be visible for an external observer.

The following basic equivalences for time formal models without invisible actions have been considered in the literature.

- *Time equivalences* (they respect time delays in behavior of systems).
 - Time trace equivalence (\equiv_t) has been introduced in [5] on time automata.
 - Time bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_t)$ has been defined in [85] on parallel timer processes and in [5] on time automata.
- Untime equivalences (they do not respect time delays in behavior of systems).
 - Untime trace equivalence (\equiv_u) has been proposed in [5] on time automata.
 - Untime bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_u)$ had been defined in [5] on time automata.
- Isomorphism (i.e. coincidence of time systems up to renaming of their components, \simeq) has been introduced in [192].

We also consider region equivalences which partition the states of a TPN into the so-called "regions" [3]. Since we prove that region equivalences coincide with corresponding time ones, a checking of the latter is simplified due to reduction if infinite number of internal states having only different values of time delays. Region bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_r)$ has been investigated in [85] on parallel timer processes. We introduce new notion of region trace equivalence (\equiv_r) .

We compare all the relations and prove coincidence of region and trace ones.

Moreover, we introduce new operation of time SM-refinement and check all the equivalences for preservation by it.

At last, we compare all the notions on untime nets, all transitions of which have timers with zero value, and, therefore, can be considered as usual Petri nets without time.

2.2.1 Comparing the equivalences

In this section, we compare all time, untime and region relations. In particular, we prove coincidence of the region equivalence notions with timed ones.

Proposition 2.2.1 For time nets N and N':



Figure 2.1: Interrelations of the equivalences



Figure 2.2: Preservation of the equivalences by time SM-refinements

- 1. $N \equiv_t N' \Leftrightarrow N \equiv_r N';$
- 2. $N \underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_t N' \Leftrightarrow N \underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_r N'.$

The following theorem establishes interrelations of the equivalences.

Theorem 2.2.1 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv, \underline{\leftrightarrow}, \simeq\}$ and $\star, \star \star \in \{_, t, u\}$. For time nets N and N' N \leftrightarrow_\star N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff in the graph in Figure 2.1 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_\star to $\ll_{\star\star}$.

2.2.2 Preservation of the equivalences by time refinements

In this section, we introduce a notion of time into the known operation of SM-refinement [39] and obtain new operation of time SM-refinement as a result. Time SM-refinement replace transitions of a time Petri net, which are labelled by a particular action, for time SM-net, each "complete" execution of which takes the time coinciding with time delay of a transition to be refined.

Some ideas of time refinement have been considered, for example, in [86] on time process algebras and in [129] — on time Petri nets.

The following theorem demonstrates which equivalences are preserved by time SM-refinements.

Theorem 2.2.2 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv, \leftrightarrow, \simeq\}$ and $\star \in \{_, t, u\}$. For time nets N, N' s.t. $a \in l_N(T_N) \cap l_{N'}(T_{N'})$ and time SM-net $D \ N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow tref(N, a, D) \leftrightarrow_{\star} tref(N', a, D)$ iff the equivalence \leftrightarrow^{\star} is in oval in Figure 2.2.

2.2.3 The equivalences on untime Petri nets

In this section, we consider the equivalences on untime nets which have zero delays of transitions, i.e. the transitions fire immediately.



Figure 2.3: Merging of the equivalences on untime nets



Figure 2.4: Interrelations of the equivalences on untime nets

Proposition 2.2.2 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv, \underline{\leftrightarrow}\}$. For untime nets N and N' $N \leftrightarrow_u N' \Leftrightarrow N \leftrightarrow_t N'$.

In Figure 2.3, dashed lines embrace the τ -equivalences coinciding on untime nets.

Theorem 2.2.3 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv_u, \underline{\leftrightarrow}_u, \simeq\}$. For untime nets N and N' $N \leftrightarrow N' \Rightarrow N \ll N'$ iff in the graph in Figure 2.4 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow to \ll .

2.3 Time Petri nets with silent transitions

Let us consider equivalences for time Petri nets with silent transitions which model systems, some actions of which are considered to be invisible for an external observer.

The following basic equivalences for time formal models with invisible actions have been considered in the literature.

- Time τ -equivalences (they respect time delays in behavior of systems and abstract from invisible actions).
 - − Time τ -bisimulation equivalence ($\underline{\leftrightarrow}_t^{\tau}$) has been defined in [85] on parallel timer processes.
- Isomorphism (i.e. coincidence of time systems up to renaming of their components, \simeq) has been introduced in [192].

We introduce the following new relations: time τ -trace equivalence (\equiv_t^{τ}) , untime τ -trace equivalence (\equiv_u^{τ}) and untime τ -bisimulation equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_u^{\tau})$.



Figure 2.5: Interrelations of the τ -equivalences



Figure 2.6: Interrelations of equivalences and τ -equivalences

We also consider region τ -equivalences. Region bisimulation τ -equivalence $(\underline{\leftrightarrow}_r^{\tau})$ has been investigated in [85] on parallel timer processes. We introduce new notion of region τ -trace equivalence (\equiv_r^{τ}) .

We compare all the τ -relations and prove coincidence of region and trace ones.

Moreover, we check all the τ -equivalences for preservation by time SM-refinement operation. At last, we compare all the τ -notions on untime nets.

2.3.1 Comparing the τ -equivalences

In this section, we compare all time, untime and region τ -relations. In particular, we prove coincidence of the region τ -equivalence notions with timed ones.

Proposition 2.3.1 For time nets with silent transitions N and N':

- 1. $N \equiv_t^{\tau} N' \Leftrightarrow N \equiv_r^{\tau} N';$
- 2. $N \underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_t^{\tau} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underbrace{\leftrightarrow}_r^{\tau} N'.$

The following theorem establishes interrelations of the equivalences.

Theorem 2.3.1 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv^{\tau}, \underline{\leftarrow}^{\tau}, \simeq\}$ and $\star, \star \star \in \{_, t, u\}$. For time nets with silent transitions N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff in the graph in Figure 2.5 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$.



Figure 2.7: Preservation of the τ -equivalences by time SM-refinements

2.3.2 Comparing equivalences and τ -equivalences

Theorem 2.3.2 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv^{\tau}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau}, \simeq\}$ and $\star, \star \star \in \{_, t, u\}$. For time nets with silent transitions N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star\star}$ N' iff in the graph in Figure 2.6 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$.

2.3.3 Preservation of the τ -equivalences by time refinements

In this section, we check τ -equivalences for preservation by time SM-refinement.

The following theorem demonstrates which equivalences are preserved by time SM-refinements.

Theorem 2.3.3 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv^{\tau}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau}, \simeq\}$ and $\star \in \{_, t, u\}$. For time nets with silent transitions N, N' s.t. $a \in l_N(T_N) \cap l_{N'}(T_{N'}) \cap Act$ and time SM-net $D \ N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow tref(N, a, D) \leftrightarrow_{\star} tref(N', a, D)$ iff the equivalence \leftrightarrow^{\star} is in oval in Figure 2.7.

2.3.4 The τ -equivalences on subclasses of time Petri nets with silent transitions

The τ -equivalences on time Petri nets without silent transitions

Let us consider how τ -equivalences are related in case there are no silent transitions.

Proposition 2.3.2 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv_t, \equiv_u, \underline{\leftrightarrow}_t, \underline{\leftrightarrow}_u\}$. For time Petri nets without silent transitions N and $N' N \leftrightarrow^{\tau} N' \Leftrightarrow N \leftrightarrow N'$.

In Figure 2.8, dashed lines embrace the τ -equivalences coinciding on untime nets.

Theorem 2.3.4 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv_t^{\tau}, \equiv_u^{\tau}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}_t^{\tau}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}_u^{\tau}, \simeq\}$. For time nets without silent transitions N and N' N \leftrightarrow N' \Rightarrow N \ll N' iff in the graph in Figure 2.5 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow to \ll .

The τ -equivalences on untime Petri nets with silent transitions

In this section, we consider the τ -equivalences on untime nets with silent transitions which have zero delays of transitions, i.e. they fire immediately.

Proposition 2.3.3 Let $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv^{\tau}, \underline{\leftrightarrow}^{\tau}\}$. For untime nets with silent transitions N and N' N \leftrightarrow_u N' \Leftrightarrow N \leftrightarrow_t N'.



Figure 2.8: Merging of the τ -equivalences on time nets without silent transitions



Figure 2.9: Merging of the τ -equivalences on untime nets with silent transitions

In Figure 2.9, dashed lines embrace the τ -equivalences coinciding on untime nets with silent transitions.

Theorem 2.3.5 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv_u^{\tau}, \leq_u^{\tau}, \simeq\}$. For untime nets with silent transitions N and $N' N \leftrightarrow N' \Rightarrow N \ll N'$ iff in the graph in Figure 2.10 there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow to \ll .

$$\simeq \\ \downarrow \\ \leftrightarrow _{u}^{\tau} \\ \downarrow \\ \equiv _{u}^{\tau}$$

Figure 2.10: Interrelations of the τ -equivalences on untime nets with silent transitions

Chapter 3

Process algebras

For specification of concurrent systems and processes and investigation of their behavioral properties a number of formal models have been proposed. Among these models, algebraic calculi hold a special place. In such algebras, a process is specified by an algebraic formula, and verification of the process properties is accomplished by means of equivalences, axioms and inference rules. All the calculi, considered below, have a common kernel. They construct a process from atomic actions (some of them can communicate) with precedence, parallelism and nondeterminism operations.

- 1. CCS [193, 194, 199, 200, 74], CSP [167, 74] and its extension [75], TCSP [58, 168, 216, 217], PA [25], BPA [63] and its extension [19, 64, 78] are the most known algebraic calculi for specification of concurrent processes on the basis of interleaving semantics, where concurrency is modeled by sequential nondeterminism.
- 2. SCCS [196, 197, 198], ACP [59, 60, 61] and its extensions [18, 23, 24, 25, 69, 53, 54, 55, 56, 62, 140, 76, 77, 20, 21, 22, 128], CCSP [218], PBC [36, 35, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 65, 66, 67, 68, 70, 71, 72, 116, 117, 118, 125, 177, 178, 44, 188, 206, 37, 172] have been proposed for axiomatization of a group of concurrency models based on step semantics, where concurrent execution of two processes is simulated by interleaving of multisets of their atomic actions. The set of operations has been extended (comparing with CCS and PA) by new operator for simultaneous occurrence of two actions.
- 3. Algebraic calculi (for example, algebras from [27, 28]) for a group of models specifying *true concurrency* and based on pomset semantics. Among such models, most well-known are Petri nets [228], event structures [211], pomsets [240], occurrence nets [229], and Anets [173]. A causal dependence relation over actions imposes the precedence relation, i.e. partial ordering. Hence, two actions are parallel if they are causally independent.

Interleaving calculi are more suitable in technical staff, whereas algebras based on step and pomset semantics have more natural specification of concurrency. By now, all the three approaches coexist, and explanation of this can be found in [41, 42]. New semantics for the known calculi are also proposed. For example, pomset semantics have been defined for CCS [29, 123], CSP [242], SCCS [28], PBC [186], semantics based on Petri nets — for CCS [119, 121, 148, 149, 31], PBC [65, 66, 67, 68], and on the basis of event structures — for CCS [290, 122, 30, 31]. In the same time, different algebraic operations on Petri nets are introduced to impose on nets a modularity which is typical for process algebras [13, 9, 10, 11]. Algebras used for processes specification can be divided by two groups: "descriptive" and "analytical" ones.

In descriptive algebras like AFP_0 , AFP_0^m considered in [91, 98], a process specification provide a description of structural properties of systems.

The calculi $AFP_1, AFP_1^{\lambda}, AFP_2, AFP_2^{\odot}, SAFP_1, SAFP_2$ and $SAFP_2$ with λ -actions, considered in [89, 90, 91, 98, 92, 93, 100, 101, 102, 174, 175, 268], have been developed on the basis of "algebra of regular nets" [99, 183, 184]. They are in the third group of algebraic calculi. These algebras combine mechanisms as for specification of concurrent nondeterministic processes as for investigation of their behavioral properties.

The main results of this chapter are the following.

- New algebra of labelled nondeterministic concurrent processes $AFLP_2$ has been introduced. It is an extension of the known calculi AFP_2 [91] by labelling of formulas with action symbols, which provides a possibility to specify and analyze much wider class of processes.
- Net equivalences have been investigated on A-nets and weakly labelled A-nets corresponding to formulas of AFP_2 and $AFLP_2$. The purpose was to make easier comparing the relations with algebraic equivalences and their transferral from nets to algebraic formulas.
- An operational characterization of the equivalence w.r.t. denotational semantics of $AFLP_2$ has been proposed which may be used to compare semantical equivalence with behavioral relations.
- A sound and complete axiomatization of semantical equivalences has been done which makes weaker comparing different formula specifications of processes.
- Algebraic equivalences have been transferred to nets. Net and algebraic equivalence notions have been compared, and it clarified the nature of the latter.
- Net equivalences have been transferred to formulas of $AFLP_2$. A soundness of algebraic analogues with the initial net relations has been proved. It has provided one with a possibility to change net by algebraic specifications and back while preserving behavior. One can also combine advantages of nets and algebras.
- Algebraic analogues of the net equivalences have been checked for compositionality via structural operations.
- A term rewrite system RWS_2 has been proposed to make checking semantic equivalences of AFP_2 and $AFLP_2$ automatic. Its confluence in the case of termination has been proved.
- On the basis of RWS_2 , a program in C programming language has been written which implement checking of formula equivalences for aforementioned algebras.

3.1 Algebra of finite processes *AFP*₂

Algebra AFP_2 considered in this section is based on semantics of posets with non-actions and deadlocked actions which help to preserve information about nondeterminism. Synchronization of actions in AFP_2 is by name. This means that several equally named actions possibly from different parts of a formula of the calculus are synchronized. One event is considered to correspond all these actions.

In [91], it was demonstrated that by means of formulas of AFP_2 one can analyze behavior of A-nets. In this section, the proposed before equivalences are examined on this net subclass. Equivalences on formulas AFP_2 are transferred into A-nets, and their interrelations with the net equivalences are investigated.

A method of automatized checking of semantical formula equivalences based on term rewrite system RWS_2 is proposed. We prove confluence of the system in case of termination. The method is implemented as a program in C language.

3.1.1 Syntax

Let $\alpha = \{a, b, c, ...\}$ be an alphabet of symbols of *actions*, $\bar{\alpha} = \{\bar{e}, \bar{f}, ...\}$ be symbols of *non-actions* and $\Delta_{\alpha} = \{\delta_e, \delta_f, ...\}$ be symbols of *deadlocked actions*. Let us denote $\hat{\alpha} = \alpha \cup \overline{\alpha} \cup \Delta_{\alpha}$. Symbols of $\hat{\alpha}$ are combined into formulas by operations ; (*precedence*), ∇ (*exclusive or, alternative*), \parallel (*concurrency*), \vee (*disjunction, union*), \parallel ("*not occur*"), $\tilde{\parallel}$ ("*mistaken not occur*").

A formula of AFP_2 in a basis $\hat{\alpha}$ is defined by the following production system.

 $E ::= a \mid \bar{a} \mid \delta_a \mid \exists a \mid \tilde{\exists} P \mid P; Q \mid P ||Q| \mid P \bigtriangledown Q \mid P \lor Q$

Here $a \in \alpha$, $\bar{a} \in \bar{\alpha}$, $\delta_a \in \Delta_{\alpha}$ are elementary formulas. We denote by **AFP**₂ a set of all formulas of AFP_2 .

Let P and P' be formulas of AFP_2 . P and P' are *isomorphic*, notation $P \simeq P'$, if these formulas coincide up to associativity rules w.r.t.; $\|, \vee, \bigtriangledown$ and commutativity rules w.r.t. $\|, \vee, \bigtriangledown$.

3.1.2 Semantics

Denotational semantics

A semantics of a process specified by a formula P of AFP_2 , notation $\mathcal{D}_{F2}[P]$, is a set of partial orders considered in [91, 92], with ordering in accordance to the dependence relation.

We introduce two equivalences w.r.t denotational semantics. The first is usual one $(=_{\mathcal{D}_{F2}})$, which means coincidence of pomset sets corresponding to the formulas to be compared. The second is observable one $(=_{\mathcal{D}_{F2}})$, which resembles the previous equivalence with exception it abstracts from non-actions and deadlocked actions.

Axiomatization

In accordance to the equivalence w.r.t. denotational semantics, an axiom system Θ_{F2} is proposed.

In the following equalities, $P, Q, R \in \mathbf{AFP}_2, a \in \alpha, \bar{a} \in \bar{\alpha}, \delta_a \in \Delta_{\alpha}$.

- 1. Associativity
 - 1.1 $P \| (Q \| R) = (P \| Q) \| R$ 1.2 $P \bigtriangledown (Q \bigtriangledown R) = (P \bigtriangledown Q) \bigtriangledown R$ 1.3 $P \lor (Q \lor R) = (P \lor Q) \lor R$ 1.4 P; (Q; R) = (P; Q); R
- 2. Commutativity
 - 2.1 $P \| Q = Q \| P$

- 2.2 $P \bigtriangledown Q = Q \bigtriangledown P$ 2.3 $P \lor Q = Q \lor P$
- 3. Distributivity
 - $\begin{array}{l} 3.1 \ (P \| Q); R = (P; R) \| (Q; R) \\ 3.2 \ P; (Q \| R) = (P; Q) \| (P; R) \\ 3.3 \ (P \lor Q); R = (P; R) \lor (Q; R) \\ 3.4 \ P; (Q \lor R) = (P; Q) \lor (P; R) \\ 3.5 \ (P \lor Q) \| R = (P \| R) \lor (Q \| R) \\ 3.6 \ P \bigtriangledown (Q \| R) = (P \bigtriangledown Q) \| (P \bigtriangledown R) \end{array}$
- 4. Axioms for \bigtriangledown and \rceil
 - 4.1 $P \bigtriangledown Q = (P \| (\|Q)) \lor ((\|P)\|Q)$ 4.2 $\|(P\|Q) = (\|P)\| (\|Q)$ 4.3 $\|(P \lor Q) = (\|P) \lor (\|Q)$ 4.4 $\|(P;Q) = (\|P)\| (\|Q)$ 4.5 $\|a = \bar{a}$ 4.6 $\|\bar{a} = \bar{a}$ 4.7 $\|\delta_a = \bar{a}$
- 5. Structural properties
 - 5.1 $\bar{a}; P = \bar{a} || P$
 - 5.2 $P; \bar{a} = P \| \bar{a}$
 - 5.3 $P \| (P;Q) = (P;Q)$
 - 5.4 $Q \| (P;Q) = (P;Q)$
 - 5.5 P;Q;R = (P;Q) ||(Q;R)
 - 5.6 $(P;Q) \| (Q;R) = (P;Q) \| (Q;R) \| (P;R)$
 - 5.7 $P \| P = P$
 - 5.8 $P \lor P = P$
 - 5.9 $P \lor Q = P$ or $Q \triangleleft P$ (a concept of strict prefix \triangleleft for formulas is defined in the main text of the dissertation)
- 6. Axioms for deadlocked events and \parallel
 - 6.1 $a \|\bar{a} = \delta_a$ 6.2 $a; a = \delta_a$ 6.3 $a \|\delta_a = \delta_a$ 6.4 $\delta_a; P = \delta_a \|(\tilde{\|}P)$ 6.5 $P; \delta_a = P \|\delta_a$

 $6.6 \ \delta_a \|(\tilde{|}|P) = \delta_a \|(\tilde{|}|P)$ $6.7 \ \tilde{|}|a = \delta_a$ $6.8 \ \tilde{|}|\bar{a} = \delta_a$ $6.9 \ \tilde{|}|\delta_a = \delta_a$ $6.10 \ \tilde{|}|(P||Q) = (\tilde{|}|P) \|(\tilde{|}|Q)$ $6.11 \ \tilde{|}|(P;Q) = (\tilde{|}|P) \|(\tilde{|}|Q)$ $6.12 \ \tilde{|}|(P \lor Q) = (\tilde{|}|P) \lor (\tilde{|}|Q)$

The axiom system Θ_{FL2} is sound for $=_{\mathcal{D}_{FL2}}$, i.e. if P = P' is an axiom of Θ_{FL2} , then $P =_{\mathcal{D}_{FL2}} P'$. The proof consists in determining the semantics of P and P' and comparing them. It can be done directly by the definitions of operations over lposets.

In order to prove that Θ_{FL2} is *complete* for $=_{\mathcal{D}_{FL2}}$, we introduce a canonical form of $AFLP_2$ -formula.

Canonical form of formulas

In this section, a canonical form of AFP_2 -formulas is introduced, which is disjunctive normal form whose elementary members are symbols from $\hat{\alpha}$ or elementary precedences (of two actions). As conjunction, we use \parallel , and disjunction is \vee .

The notation $P =_{\Theta_{F_2}} P'$ means that the equality of P and P' can be proved using Θ_{F_2} . The following theorems prove completeness of Θ_{F_2} .

Theorem 3.1.1 [91, 92] Any formula of AFP_2 can be reduced to the unique (up to isomorphism) canonical form.

Theorem 3.1.2 [91, 92] For any two formulas P and P' of AFP_2 the following holds: $P =_{\mathcal{D}_{F2}} P' \Leftrightarrow P =_{\Theta_{F2}} P'$.

Thus, one can easily check whether two formulas of $AFP_2 P$ and P' are equivalent. For this, it is enough to reduce them to canonical forms Q and Q' and check by coincidence up to isomorphism.

3.1.3 Equivalences on A-nets

In [183, 184], an algebra of regular nets has been introduced. Later, on the basis of this calculus, an algebra AFP_0 has been proposed s.t. its formulas correspond to finite A-nets [173, 185]. In [183, 184], it has been proved that any finite A-net can be specified by a formula of the algebra using "regularization" algorithm. In [91], a mapping Ψ has been defined from the set of all formulas of AFP_0 into that of AFP_2 . This mapping has a property stating that the set of posets of the net specified by a formula P of AFP_0 , coincide with the set of posets of nondeterministic process specified by the formula $\Psi(P)$ of AFP_2 . It allows one not to differentiate between formulas P and $\Psi(P)$ in pomset semantics. Hence, given the A-net specified by a formula P of AFP_0 , one can analyze its properties and behavior by means of the same formula P of AFP_2 .

Proposition 3.1.1 For A-nets N and N':

- 1. $N \equiv_i N' \Leftrightarrow N \equiv_{mes} N';$
- 2. $N \equiv_{pr} N' \Leftrightarrow N \underset{prh}{\leftrightarrow} N'.$



Figure 3.1: Merging of the basic equivalences on A-nets



Figure 3.2: Interrelations of the basic equivalences on A-nets



Figure 3.3: Interrelations of the basic net and algebraic equivalences

In Figure 3.1, dashed lines embrace the basic equivalences coinciding on A-nets.

Theorem 3.1.3 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv, \simeq\}, \star, \star \star \in \{_, i, pr, occ\}$. For A-nets N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\ll_{\star \star}$ N' iff there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star \star}$ in the graph in Figure 3.2.

3.1.4 Comparing the net and algebraic equivalences

Equivalence notions for AFP_2 can be extended to nets. For this, it is enough to find a formula of AFP_2 for every finite A-net, as it has been described in the previous section.

Let \leftrightarrow be a formula equivalence of AFP_2 , and the formulas E and E' correspond to the finite A-nets N and N'. We say that two nets N and N' are equivalent (w.r.t. \leftrightarrow), notation $N \leftrightarrow N'$, iff the formulas corresponding them are also equivalent, i.e. $E \leftrightarrow E'$.

The following proposition states that on A-nets observed equivalence w.r.t. denotational semantics coincide with interleaving trace one.

Proposition 3.1.2 For A-nets N and N' $N \equiv_i N' \Leftrightarrow N =_{\mathcal{D}_{p_0}^+} N'$.

Theorem 3.1.4 Let $\leftrightarrow, \ll \in \{\equiv, \simeq, =\}, \star, \star \star \in \{_, i, pr, occ, \mathcal{D}_{F2}^+, \mathcal{D}_{F2}\}$. For A-nets N and N' N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N $\leftrightarrow_{\star\star}$ N' iff there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\ll_{\star\star}$ in the graph in Figure 3.3.

3.1.5 Automatization checking for algebraic equivalences

A process of transformation of a formula of AFP_2 into canonical form with the use of the axiom system Θ_{F2} is not straightforward. It is especially hard if a formula is long and has an intricate structure, as happens very often while formula specification of real life processes. Moreover, during the transformation, the axioms of Θ_{F2} are often applied not only in usual "direction" (i.e. from the left side to the right one) but also in reverse one.

To automatically transform the initial formula to one of isomorphic canonical forms, one have to design a term rewrite system. Application of rules of the system produces such a transformation.

In accordance to these requirements, we develop a term rewrite system RWS_2 .

Term rewrite system RWS_2

A substitution of subformula P_i of a formula P by another subformula Q, denoted by $[P]_Q^{P_i}$, is the formula $P_1 \circ \ldots \circ P_{i-1} \circ Q \circ P_{i+1} \circ \ldots \circ P_n$, where $P = P_1 \circ \ldots \circ P_{i-1} \circ P_i \circ P_{i+1} \circ \ldots \circ P_n$, $\circ \in \{;, \|, \nabla, \vee\}$.

In the following rules of $RWS_2 P$, Q, R denote formulas of AFP_2 , $a, b, c \in \alpha, \bar{a}, \bar{b} \in \bar{\alpha}, \delta_a, \delta_b \in \Delta_{\alpha}$. The digits in parentheses are the numbers of equalities of Θ_{F2} which has been used for producing corresponding transition rules.

The notions like "1,2,3-conjunction", "1,2-disjunction" or "normal disjunction" correspond to the particular good structural properties of a formula. They have been presented before definition of canonical form in the initial text of dissertation, and omitted in this survey as too technical. This should not produce any problems with understanding.

- 1.1. $\circ \in \{;, \|, \vee\} \Rightarrow$ $P \circ (Q \circ R) \rightarrow (P \circ Q) \circ R$ (1.1, 1.3, 1.4);
- 2.1. $(\bullet, \circ) \in \{(\parallel, ;), (\lor, ;), (\lor, \parallel)\} \Rightarrow$ $(P \circ Q) \bullet R \rightarrow (P \bullet R) \circ (Q \bullet R)$ (3.1, 3.3, 3.5);
- 2.2. $(\bullet, \circ) \in \{(\parallel, ;), (\lor, ;), (\lor, \parallel)\} \Rightarrow$ $P \bullet (Q \circ R) \to (P \bullet Q) \circ (P \bullet R)$ (2.1, 3.2, 3.4, 3.5);
- $\begin{array}{ll} 3.1 \ P \bigtriangledown Q \rightarrow (P \| (\exists Q)) \lor ((\exists P) \| Q) \\ (4.1); \end{array}$

$$4.1. \circ \in \{\|,;\}, \neg \in \{\overline{\|},\overline{\|}\} \Rightarrow \\ \neg (P \circ Q) \to (\neg P) \| (\neg Q) \\ (4.2, 4.4, 6.10, 6.11);$$

- 4.2. $\neg \in \{]], \tilde{]} \} \Rightarrow$ $\neg (P \lor Q) \rightarrow (\neg P) \lor (\neg Q)$ (4.3, 6.12);
- 4.3. $P = a \text{ or } P = \bar{a} \text{ or } P = \delta_a \Rightarrow$ $\|P \to \bar{a}$ (4.5, 4.6, 4.7);
- 4.4. P = a or $P = \bar{a}$ or $P = \delta_a \Rightarrow$ $\tilde{\parallel} P \rightarrow \delta_a$ (6.7, 6.8, 6.9);
- 5.1. $P, Q, R \in \hat{\alpha} \Rightarrow$ $(P; Q); R \to ((P; Q) || (Q; R)) || (P; R)$ (5.5, 5.6);

5.2.
$$Q \in \hat{\alpha} \Rightarrow$$

 $\bar{a}; Q \to \bar{a} || Q$
(5.1);

5.3.
$$P \in \hat{\alpha} \Rightarrow$$

 $P; \bar{a} \rightarrow P || \bar{a}$
(5.2);

5.4.
$$a; a \to \delta_a$$

(6.2);

- 5.5. Q = b or $Q = \overline{b}$ or $Q = \delta_b \Rightarrow \delta_a; Q \to \delta_a || \delta_b$ (6.4, 6.7, 6.8, 6.9);
- 5.6. $P \in \hat{\alpha} \Rightarrow$ $P; \delta_a \to P || \delta_a$ (6.5);
- 6.1. P is 1-conjunction, $P' = \delta_a$ is a conjunctive member of $P \Rightarrow P \| \bar{b} \to P \| \delta_b$ (1.1, 2.1, 4.5, 6.6, 6.7);
- 6.2. P is 1-conjunction, $P' = \overline{b}$ is a conjunctive member of $P \Rightarrow P \| \delta_a \to [P]_{\delta_b}^{P'} \| \delta_a$ (1.1, 2.1, 4.5, 6.6, 6.7);
- 7.1. *P* is 1,2-conjunction, *P'* is a conjunctive member of *P*, *P'* = *a* or *P'* = *b* \Rightarrow $P \| (a;b) \rightarrow [P]_{(a;b)}^{P'}$ (1.1, 2.1, 5.3, 5.4);
- 7.2. P is 1,2-conjunction, P' is a conjunctive member of P, P' = (a; b) or $P' = (b; a) \Rightarrow P || a \rightarrow P$ (1.1, 2.1, 5.3, 5.4);
- 7.3. *P* is 1,2-conjunction, P' = a is a conjunctive member of P, $\diamond \in \{^-, \delta\} \Rightarrow P \| \diamond a \rightarrow [P]_{\delta_a}^{P'}$ (1.1, 2.1, 6.1, 6.3);
- 7.4. P is 1,2-conjunction, P' is a conjunctive member of P, $P' = \bar{a}$ or $P' = \delta_a \Rightarrow P \| a \to [P]_{\delta_a}^{P'}$ (1.1, 2.1, 6.1, 6.3);
- 7.5. *P* is 1,2-conjunction, P' = (a; b) is a conjunctive member of $P, \diamond \in \{^-, \delta\} \Rightarrow P \| \diamond a \to [P]_{\delta_b}^{P'} \| \delta_a$ (1.1, 1.4, 2.1, 5.1, 6.1, 6.3, 6.4, 6.7);
- 7.6. *P* is 1,2-conjunction, P' = (b; a) is a conjunctive member of *P*, $\diamond \in \{^-, \delta\} \Rightarrow P \| \diamond a \to [P]_b^{P'} \| \delta_a$ (1.1, 2.1, 5.2, 6.1, 6.3, 6.5);
- 7.7. *P* is 1,2-conjunction, *P'* is a conjunctive member of *P*, *P'* = \bar{a} or *P'* = $\delta_a \Rightarrow P \| (a; b) \to [P]_{\delta_a}^{P'} \| \delta_b$ (1.1, 1.4, 2.1, 5.1, 6.1, 6.3, 6.4, 6.7);
- 7.8. *P* is 1,2-conjunction, *P'* is a conjunctive member of *P*, *P'* = \bar{a} or *P'* = $\delta_a \Rightarrow P \| (b; a) \to [P]_{\delta_a}^{P'} \| b$ (1.1, 2.1, 5.2, 6.1, 6.3, 6.5);
- 7.9. P is 1,2-conjunction, P' = Q is a conjunctive member of $P \Rightarrow P || Q \rightarrow P$ (1.1, 2.1, 5.7);

- 8.1. *P* is 1,2,3-conjunction, P' = (a; b) is a conjunctive member of *P*, in the maximal 1,2,3conjunction containing *P* as a conjunctive member, there is no conjunctive member $P'' = (a; c) \Rightarrow$ $P \| (b; c) \rightarrow (P \| (b; c)) \| (a; c)$ (1.1, 2.1, 5.6);
- 8.2. *P* is 1,2,3-conjunction, P' = (c; a) is a conjunctive member of *P*, in the maximal 1,2,3conjunction containing *P* as a conjunctive member there is no conjunctive member $P'' = (b; a) \Rightarrow$ $P \| (b; c) \rightarrow (P \| (b; c)) \| (b; a)$ (1.1, 2.1, 5.6);
- 9.1. *P* is 1-disjunction, *P'* is a disjunctive member of *P*, $P' \simeq Q \Rightarrow P \lor Q \rightarrow P$ (1.1, 1.3, 2.1, 2.3, 5.8);
- 10.1. P is 1,2-disjunction, Q is a normal conjunction, P' is a disjunctive member of P, $Q \triangleleft P' \Rightarrow P \lor Q \rightarrow P$ (1.3, 2.3, 5.9);
- 10.2. P is 1,2-disjunction, Q is a normal conjunction, P' is a disjunctive member of P, $P' \triangleleft Q \Rightarrow P \lor Q \rightarrow [P]_Q^{P'}$ (1.3, 2.3, 5.9).

A proof of confluence of RWS_2

Proposition 3.1.3 No rule of a RWS_2 can be applied to a formula P of AFP_2 iff P is in canonical form.

Hence, to check semantical equivalence of two AFP_2 -formulas, it is enough to transform them to their canonical forms with the use of RWS_2 and then compare these canonical forms by isomorphism.

The author developed program in C programming language (3000 lines) based on the results of this section. The program automatically transforms any AFP_2 into canonical form. Description of the and examples of its work can be found in Appendices B and C.

3.2 Algebra of finite labelled processes *AFLP*₂

An advantage of considered above algebra AFP_2 is a mechanism of action synchronization by name which is close to the net one. The mechanism allows one to represent processes which cannot be specified by formulas of other calculi (for example, CCS, TCSP, ACP or algebra of event structures from [27, 28]), where different unique events correspond to every appearance of certain action in a formula [91]. In [121], a semantics of CCS is proposed based on Petri nets. Formulas of CCS correspond to C/E-systems (a subclass of Petri nets). It has been demonstrated that the reverse translation (C/E-nets into CCS-formulas) is impossible due to the binarity of synchronization operation in CCS. On the other hand, in Petri nets, a synchronization can be not only binary one, since a transition can have more than two pre-conditions (input places). In the same paper, it is stressed that the synchronization operator should be extended to solve the problem. At the same time, in the framework of AFP_2 , it is impossible to specify a process with two concurrent actions having the same name.

In this section, we introduce an algebra $AFLP_2$ (Algebra of Finite Labelled Processes) on the basis of AFP_2 by imposing the global labelling to event symbols which are combined into formulas. Hence, the formulas of $AFLP_2$ specify *labelled* nondeterministic processes where several different events may be equally labelled, unlike AFP_2 -formulas. Thus, using $AFLP_2$, one can specify much wider class of processes than that in AFP_2 .

Like AFP_2 , calculus $AFLP_2$ is as descriptive as analytical one. Thus, by means of $AFLP_2$, it is possible as specify a process as analyze its properties.

From algebra AFP_2 , calculus $AFLP_2$ inherited the mechanism of non-actions and deadlocked actions which allows one to preserve the information about non-determinism.

In $AFLP_2$, denotational semantics is introduced on the basis of labelled posets (lposets) with non-events and deadlocked events. The semantical equivalence of $AFLP_2$ -formulas is defined, and sound and complete axiom set corresponding to the equivalence is presented.

The possibility to use the program CANON for automatized checking of semantical equivalence of $AFLP_2$ is mentioned.

Operational semantics of $AFLP_2$ is defined based on transition systems connected with pomsets. In this system, a transformation of a formula in accordance to the rules is interpreted as occurrence of a pomset.

A coincidence of denotational and operational semantics is proved.

It is demonstrated that by means of $AFLP_2$ one can analyze the behavior of weakly labelled A-nets (i.e. A-nets which may have noninjective labelling function). The net equivalences considered before are treated on this subclass of Petri nets. Semantical equivalences of $AFLP_2$ are transferred into weakly labelled A-nets, and their interrelations with the net equivalences are examined.

Analogues of the net equivalences are introduced on $AFLP_2$ -formulas, and their accordance with the original net equivalences is proved.

At last, the fact is established that semantical equivalence of $AFLP_2$ is the only one which is a congruence w.r.t. operations of the algebra.

3.2.1 Syntax

Let $Ev = \{e, f, \ldots\}$ be an alphabet of symbols of *(ordinary) events*, $\overline{Ev} = \{\overline{e}, \overline{f}, \ldots\}$ be symbols of *non-events* and $\Delta_{Ev} = \{\delta_e, \delta_f, \ldots\}$ be symbols of *deadlocked events*. Let us denote $\widehat{Ev} = Ev \cup \overline{Ev} \cup \Delta_{Ev}$. Symbols of \widehat{Ev} are combined into formulas by operations; (*precedence*), ∇ (*exclusive or, alternative*), \parallel (*concurrency*), \vee (*disjunction, union*), \parallel ("*not occur*"), \parallel ("*mistaken not occur*"). We introduce $Act = \{a, b, \ldots\}$, an alphabet of *action* symbols (*labels*). A global labelling function lab : $Ev \to Act$ binds an action with each event. The function is extended to $\overline{Ev} \cup \Delta_{Ev}$ as follows: $lab(\overline{e}) = \overline{lab(e)}$ and $lab(\delta_e) = \delta_{lab(e)}$.

A formula of $AFLP_2$ in a basis \widehat{Ev} is defined by the following production system.

$$E ::= e \mid \overline{e} \mid \delta_e \mid \exists E \mid \exists E \mid E; F \mid E \mid F \mid E \bigtriangledown F \mid E \lor F$$

Here $e \in Ev$, $\bar{e} \in \overline{Ev}$, $\delta_e \in \Delta_{Ev}$ are elementary formulas. We denote by **AFLP**₂ a set of all formulas of $AFLP_2$.

Let E and E' be formulas of $AFLP_2$. E and E' are *isomorphic*, notation $E \simeq E'$, if these formulas coincide up to associativity rules w.r.t. ;, $\|, \vee, \bigtriangledown$ and commutativity rules w.r.t. $\|, \vee, \bigtriangledown$.

3.2.2 Semantics

Denotational semantics

A semantics of a process specified by a formula P of $AFLP_2$, notation $\mathcal{D}_{FL2}[P]$, is a set of partial multisets with ordering by dependence relation.

We introduce two equivalences w.r.t denotational semantics. The first is usual one $(=_{\mathcal{D}_{FL2}})$, which means coincidence of pomset sets corresponding to the formulas to be compared. The second is observable one $(=_{\mathcal{D}_{FL2}})$, which resembles the previous equivalence with exception it abstracts from non-actions and deadlocked actions.

Axiomatization

In accordance to the equivalence w.r.t. denotational semantics, an axiom system Θ_{FL2} is proposed. It is the same as Θ_{F2} (only the formulas of $AFLP_2$ are used).

A notation $E =_{\Theta_{FL2}} E'$ means that the equation may be proved using the axiom system Θ_{FL2} .

Canonical form of formulas

The definition of canonical form is the same as that for AFP_2 .

The following theorems present the required completeness result for Θ_{FL2} .

Theorem 3.2.1 Every formula of $AFLP_2$ may be proved equal to unique up to isomorphism canonical form using Θ_{FL2} .

Theorem 3.2.2 For any formulas E and E' of $AFLP_2$ the following statement is valid: $E =_{\mathcal{D}_{FL2}} E' \Leftrightarrow E =_{\Theta_{FL2}} E'.$

Hence, we can find whether any two formulas E and E' of $AFLP_2$ equivalent w.r.t. denotational semantics. To do this, it is sufficient to reduce them to their canonical forms F and F'and check them by isomorphism.

For automatization of this process, it is possible to use program with respect of formula labelling.

Operational semantics

Operational semantics of $AFLP_2$, denoted by \mathcal{O}_{FL2} , is based on transition systems with rules corresponding to occurrences of pomsets. It is essentially the set of pomsets, after occurrence of which the initial canonical form of formula is reduced to one of the "terminal" formulas s.t. no rule can be applied to them.

Theorem 3.2.3 Let E be a formula of $AFLP_2$. Then $\mathcal{O}_{FL2}[E] = \mathcal{D}_{FL2}[E]$.

3.2.3 Equivalences on weakly labelled A-nets

Like we introduced labelling on formulas of AFP_2 and obtained calculus $AFLP_2$, the labelling on AFP_0 -formulas may be introduced and a new algebra $AFLP_0$ may be obtained as a result. Since formulas of AFP_0 specify finite A-nets, the formulas of $AFLP_0$ will specify finite weakly labelled A-nets (i.e. A-nets having labelling function which may be noninjective).

Let us define a mapping $\Psi_L : \mathbf{AFLP_0} \to \mathbf{AFLP_2}$ as follows.

- 1. $\Psi_L(e) = e$,
- 2. $\Psi_L(E;_{FL0}F) = E;_{FL2}F,$
- 3. $\Psi_L(E||_{FL0}F) = E||_{FL2}F$,
- 4. $\Psi_L(E \bigtriangledown_{FL0} F) = E \bigtriangledown_{FL2} F.$

The symbol "*FL*0" marks the operations of $AFLP_0$, and the symbol "*FL*2" is used for $AFLP_2$ ones. Denotational semantics of $AFLP_0$ is a mapping \mathcal{D}_{FL0} , which associates with every formula E of the algebra a set of maximal C-subnets (O-subnets, in terms of [91]) of finite A-net N, specified by the formula. Let us note that with every causal net $C = \langle P_C, T_C, F_C, l_C \rangle$ we can associate lposet $\rho_C = \langle T_C, \prec_C \cap (T_C \times T_C), l_C \rangle$.

Theorem 3.2.4 Let E be a formula of $AFLP_0$ and F be a formula of $AFLP_2$ s.t. $F = \Psi_L(E)$. Then $\{\rho_C \mid C \in \mathcal{D}_{FL0}[E]\} = \mathcal{D}_{FL2}^+[F]$.

Hence, with every formula E of $AFLP_0$ which specifies finite weakly labelled A-net N, we can associate the formula F of $AFLP_2$ s.t. the set of lposets of maximal C-subnets of N coincides with the set of lposets of maximal deterministic (sub)processes of the nondeterministic process specified by F. Let us note that the result of the theorem is valid for any (not only maximal) initial C-subnets of N and for any deterministic processes specified by F. In such a case, the initial deterministic processes will correspond to initial C-subnets.

Let us note also that a mapping Ψ_L only replaces operations of $AFLP_0$ by $AFLP_2$ ones. Consequently, if we have finite weakly labelled A-net N specified by $AFLP_0$ -formula E, we can analyze its behavior by means of the same $AFLP_2$ -formula E.

Now we will consider the equivalences on weakly labelled A-nets. Unlike A-nets, where most of the equivalence notions are merged, interrelation of the equivalences on weakly labelled A-nets is as well as on nets without any restrictions and it may be represented by the same graph.

Theorem 3.2.5 Let N and N' be weakly labelled A-nets and $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv, \leftrightarrow, \simeq\}, \star, \star \star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, pr, iST, pwST, pomST, prST, pwh, pomh, prh, mes, occ\}.$ Then $N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N \leftrightarrow_{\star\star} N'$ iff there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\leftrightarrow_{\star\star}$ in the graph in Figure 1.2.

3.2.4 Comparing the basic net and algebraic equivalences

Any finite A-net, as it was proved in [183, 184], can be represented by AFP_0 -formula using regularization algorithm. Therefore, any finite weakly labelled A-net can be represented by $AFLP_0$ -formula with the use of the analogous algorithm. In the previous section the mapping Ψ_L was defined which associates $AFLP_2$ -formula with every $AFLP_0$ -formula and preserves the sets of lposets. Hence, one can associate $AFLP_2$ -formula E with every finite weakly labelled A-net N s.t. the set of lposets of initial C-subnets of N coincides with the set of lposets of deterministic processes specified by E.

In such a case, it is clear that the concepts of formula equivalences of $AFLP_2$ may be extended to nets. Given some formula equivalence, we will consider two nets to be equivalent iff the formulas are equivalent which are associated with these nets.

Theorem 3.2.6 Let N and N' be weakly labelled A-nets and $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv, \underline{\leftrightarrow}, \simeq, =\}, \star, \star \star \in \{_, i, s, pw, pom, pr, iST, pwST, pomST, prST, pwh, pomh, prh, mes, occ, <math>\mathcal{D}_{FL2}, \mathcal{D}_{FL2}^+\}$. Then $N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Rightarrow N \leftrightarrow_{\star\star} N'$ iff there exists a directed path from \leftrightarrow_{\star} to $\leftrightarrow_{\star\star}$ in the graph in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Interrelations of the basic net and formula equivalences

3.2.5 Defining of algebraic analogues of the basic net equivalences

In this section, we introduce the basic net equivalences directly on formulas of $AFLP_2$, using transition rules designed to define operational semantics.

Comparing the net equivalences with their algebraic analogues

Theorem 3.2.7 Let E be a formula of $AFLP_2$ corresponding to finite weakly labelled A-net N, E' be a formula of $AFLP_2$ corresponding to finite weakly labelled A-net N' and $\leftrightarrow \in \{\equiv, \pm\}, \star \in \{i, s, pw, pom, iST, pwST, pomST, pwh, pomh, mes\}$. Then $N \leftrightarrow_{\star} N' \Leftrightarrow E \leftrightarrow_{\star} E'$.

The question arises after defining analogues of the net equivalences on $AFLP_2$ -formulas, whether some of these equivalences are congruences w.r.t. operations of the algebra. We have found an example of formulas demonstrating that none of the considered equivalences on $AFLP_2$ -formulas is a congruence, with the exception of $=_{\mathcal{D}_{FL2}}$, i.e. it is the weakest relation which is a congruence.

Conclusion

Let us mention the **main results** obtained.

- 1. In the framework of Petri nets without and with silent transitions, a number of behavioral equivalences have been proposed and investigated. The interrelations of the mentioned equivalences have been established on different net subclasses. A logical characterization of a number of equivalence relations has been done. A possibility to use several equivalence notions for effective history preserving reduction of nets has been demonstrated. A compositional approach to comparing behavior of concurrent systems has been treated.
- 2. For time Petri nets without and with silent transitions, a number of time, untime and region equivalences have been introduced. Their correlation on several subclasses of time nets has been clarified. A regional characterization of the time equivalences has been presented which simplify their check. A stability of the equivalence relations during compositional design of systems has been examined.
- 3. An extension of the known calculus AFP_2 by labelling function has been proposed: an algebra of labelled nondeterministic concurrent processes $AFLP_2$. An operational characterization as well as complete and sound axiomatization of the semantical equivalences of the mentioned algebras has been provided. A comparison of the algebraic and the net equivalences as well as their transferral from one model to another and back has been done. A method of automatic check of algebraic formulas of the algebras for semantic equivalence has been developed and implemented.

Thus, the basic **conclusions** are the following. A wide set of behavioral equivalence relations have been introduced and systematically investigated for three very important models of concurrency: standard Petri nets, time Petri nets and process algebras. The results obtained provide one with a possibility to evaluate and choose the most suitable formalism and an equality criteria during the process of design of concurrent and distributed systems as well as real time systems.

Acknowledgments First, I am indebted to my post graduate course supervisors DR. IRINA B. VIRBITSKAITE and PROF. DR. IGOR V. POTTOSIN who directed my research work, the results of which were summarized in the Ph.D. thesis.

I would like to thank also my DAAD scientific supervisor PROF. DR. EIKE BEST for his inspiration to write this survey and many helpful and valuable advices on improvement of the text.

Bibliography

- AUTANT, C., BELMESK, Z., SCHNOEBELEN, PH. Strong bisimilarity on nets revisited. Research Report 847-I, LIFIA-IMAG, Grenoble, France, 28 p., March 1991.
- [2] AUTANT, C., BELMESK, Z., SCHNOEBELEN, PH. Strong bisimilarity on nets revisited. Extended abstract. LNCS 506, p. 295–312, June 1991.
- [3] ALUR, R., COURCOUBETIS, C. AND DILL, D. Model-checking for real-time systems. Proceedings of LICS'90, p. 414–425, 1990.
- [4] ACETO, L. History preserving, causal and mixed-ordering equivalence for stable event structures. Technical Report HPL-PSC-91-28, Hewlett-Packard Laboratories, Pisa Science Center, Pisa, 1991.
- [5] ALUR, R., COURCOUBETIS, C., HENZINGER, T.A. The observational power of clocks. LNCS 836, p. 162–177, 1994.
- [6] ACETO, L., HENNESSY, M.C.B. Towards action refinement in process algebras. Proceedings of 4th LICS, IEEE Computer Society Press, Washington, p. 138–145, 1989.
- [7] ACETO, L., HENNESSY, M.C.B. Adding action refinement to a finite process algebra. LNCS 510, p. 506–519, 1991.
- [8] ACETO, L., HENNESSY, M.C.B. Adding action refinement to a finite process algebra. Information and Computation 115, p. 179–247, 1994.
- [9] ANISIMOV, N.A., KOVALENKO, A.A. Towards Petri net calculi based on synchronization via places. Proceedings of the IEEE Symposium on Paralles Algorithms and Architecture Synthesis - 95, p. 264–270, Aizu, Japan, March 15–17, 1995.
- [10] ANISIMOV, N.A., KOUTNY, M. On compositionality and Petri nets in protocol engineering. Protocol Specification, Testing and Verification XV, Dembinski P., Sredniawa eds. (Chapman & Hall), p. 71–86, 1995.
- [11] ANISIMOV, N.A., KOVALENKO, A.A. Asynchronous composition of Petri nets via places. Proceedings of the 2nd A.P. Ershov International Memorial Conference on Perspectives of System Informatics - 96 (PSI'96), p. 214–219, Institute of Informatics Systems, Novosibirsk, 1996.
- [12] ACETO, L., DE NICOLA, R., FANTECHI, A. Testing equivalences for event structures. LNCS 280, p. 1–20, 1987.
- [13] ANISIMOV, N.A. An algebra of regular macronets for formal specification of communication protocols. Computers and Artificial Intelligence 10, p. 541–560, 1991.

- [14] AUTANT, C., PFISTER, W., SCHNOEBELEN, PH. Place bisimulations for the reduction of labelled Petri nets with silent moves. Proceedings of International Conference on Computing and Information, 1994.
- [15] AUTANT, C., PFISTER, W., SCHNOEBELEN, PH. Place bisimulations for the reduction of labelled Petri nets with silent moves. Draft paper, 18 p., 1995.
- [16] AUTANT, C., SCHNOEBELEN, PH. Place bisimulations in Petri nets. LNCS 616, p. 45–61, June 1992.
- [17] AUTANT, C. Petri nets for the semantics and the implementation of parallel processes. Ph.D. thesis, Institut National Polytechnique de Grenoble, May 1993 (in French).
- [18] BAETEN, J.C.M., BERGSTRA, J.A. Global renaming operators in concrete process algebra. Report CS-R 8521, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 30 p., September 1985.
- [19] BAETEN, J.C.M., BERGSTRA, J.A. Recursive process definitions with the state operator. Report CS-R 8920, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 15 p., May 1989.
- [20] BAETEN, J.C.M., BERGSTRA, J.A. Process algebra with zero object. LNCS 458, p. 83–98, 1990.
- [21] BAETEN, J.C.M., BERGSTRA, J.A. Non interleaving process algebra. LNCS 715, p. 308– 323, 1993.
- [22] BAETEN, J.C.M., BERGSTRA, J.A. Process algebra with partial choice. LNCS 836, p. 465–480, 1994.
- [23] BAETEN, J.C.M., BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. Syntax and defining equations for an interrupt mechanism in process algebra. Report CS-R 8503, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 45 p., February 1985.
- [24] BAETEN, J.C.M., BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. Ready trace semantics for concrete process algebra with priority operator. Report CS-R 8517, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 21 p., August 1985.
- [25] BAETEN, J.C.M., BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. An operational semantics for process algebra. Report CS-R 8522, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 30 p., September 1985.
- [26] BERNARDINELLO, L., DE CINDIO, F. A survey of basic net models and modular net classes. Design methods based on nets, Esprit Basic Research Action 3148, June 1989–June 1990.
- [27] BOUDOL, G., CASTELLANI, I. On the semantics of concurrency: partial orders and transition systems. LNCS 249, p. 123–137, 1987.
- [28] BOUDOL, G., CASTELLANI, I. Concurrency and atomicity. TCS 59, p. 25-84, 1988.
- [29] BOUDOL, G., CASTELLANI, I. Permutation of transitions: an event structure semantics for CCS and SCCS. LNCS 354, p. 411–427, 1989.
- [30] BOUDOL, G., CASTELLANI, I. Three equivalent semantics for CCS. LNCS 469, p. 96–141, 1990.

- [31] BOUDOL, G., CASTELLANI, I. Flow models of distributed computations: three equivalent semantics for CCS. Information and Computation 114, p. 247–314, 1994.
- [32] BOUDOL, G., CASTELLANI, I., HENNESSY, M.C.B., KIEHN, A. A theory of processes with localities. Report 13/91, University of Sussex, 1991.
- [33] BOUDOL, G., CASTELLANI, I., HENNESSY, M.C.B., KIEHN, A. Observing localities. TCS 114, p. 31–61, 1993.
- [34] BEST, E., DEVILLERS, R. Sequential and concurrent behavior in Petri net theory. TCS 55, p. 87–136, 1987.
- [35] BEST, E., DEVILLERS, R., ESPARZA, J. General refinement and recursion operations in the box calculus. LNCS 665, p. 130–140, 1993.
- [36] BEST, E., DEVILLERS, R., HALL, J.G. The box calculus: a new causal algebra with multi-label communication. LNCS 609, p. 21–69, 1992.
- [37] BEST, E., DEVILLERS, R., KOUTNY, M. Petri net algebra. Draft paper, 181 p., April 1997.
- [38] BEST, E., DEVILLERS, R., KIEHN, A., POMELLO, L. Fully concurrent bisimulation. Technical Report LIT-202, Univ. Bruxelles, 1989.
- [39] BEST, E., DEVILLERS, R., KIEHN, A., POMELLO, L. Concurrent bisimulations in Petri nets. Acta Informatica 28, p. 231–264, 1991.
- [40] BEDNARCZYK, M.A. Heredity history preserving bisimulations. Draft paper, 1991.
- [41] BEST, E. Concurrent behaviour: sequences, processes and axioms. LNCS 197, p. 221–245, 1985.
- [42] BEST, E. Partial order semantics of concurrent programs. (Abstract of invited lecture at CONCUR'90.) LNCS 458, p. 1, 1990.
- [43] BEST, E. Semantics of sequential and parallel programs. 347 p., Prentice Hall International, 1996.
- [44] BEST, E. Petri nets, process algebras and programming languages. Draft tutorial, 140 p., 1996.
- [45] VAN BENTHEM, J., VAN EIJCK, J., STEBLETSOVA, V. Modal logic, transition systems and processes. Report CS-R 9321, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 1993.
- [46] BEST, E., FERNANDEZ, C. Nonsequential processes. EATCS Monographs 13, 112 p., 1988.
- [47] BEST, E., FLEISCHHACK, H., FRĄCZAK, W., HOPKINS, R.P., KLAUDEL, H., PELZ, E. A high level Petri net semantics of $B(PN)^2$. Draft paper, March 28, 1994.
- [48] BEST, E., FLEISCHHACK, H., FRĄCZAK, W., HOPKINS, R.P., KLAUDEL, H., PELZ, E. An M-net semantics of B(PN)². Proceedings of STRICT'95, 1995.
- [49] BEST, E., FLEISCHHACK, H., FRĄCZAK, W., HOPKINS, R.P., KLAUDEL, H., PELZ, E. A class of composable high level Petri nets. LNCS 935, p. 103–120, 1995.

- [50] BEST, E., FLEISCHHACK, H., FRĄCZAK, W., HOPKINS, R.P., KLAUDEL, H., PELZ, E. An algebra of high level Petri nets, with an application to the semantics of concurrent program languages. Draft paper, 34 p., November 1995.
- [51] BEST, E., FLEISCHHACK, H. PEP: programming environment based on Petri nets. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 14/95, 100 p., May 1995.
- [52] BEST, E, GRAHLMANN, B. Programming environment based on Petri nets. Documentation and user guide version 1.4. Universität Hildesheim, Institut für Informatik, Hildesheim, Germany, 78 p., November 1995.
- [53] BAETEN, J.C.M, VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. Another look at abstraction in process algebra. LNCS 267, p. 84–94, 1987.
- [54] BAETEN, J.C.M, VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. Another look at abstraction in process algebra. Report CS-R 8701, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 32 p., January 1987.
- [55] BAETEN, J.C.M, VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. Merge and termination in process algebra. Report CS-R 8716, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 26 p., April 1987.
- [56] BAETEN, J.C.M, VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. Abstraction and empty process in process algebra. Report CS-R 8721, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 24 p., April 1987.
- [57] BRAUER, W., GOLD, R., VOGLER, W. A survey of behavior and equivalence preserving refinements of Petri nets. LNCS 483, p. 1–46, 1990.
- [58] BROOKES, S.D., HOARE, C.A.R., ROSCOE, A.W. A theory of communicating sequential processes. Journal of the ACM 31(3), p. 560–599, July 1984.
- [59] BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. Process algebra for synchronous communication. Information and Control 60, p. 109–137, 1984.
- [60] BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. The algebra of recursively defined processes and the algebra of regular processes. LNCS 172, p. 82–94, 1984.
- [61] BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. Algebra of communicating processes with abstraction. TCS 37, p. 77–121, 1985.
- [62] BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. ACP_{τ} : a universal axiom system for process specification. Report CS-R 8725, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 17 p., May 1987.
- [63] BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. Process theory based on bisimulation semantics. LNCS 354, p. 50–122, 1989.
- [64] BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W. BMACP. J.W. de Bakker, 25 Jaar Semantiek, Liber Amicorum, p. 91–111, 1989.
- [65] BEST, E., KOUTNY, M. A refined view of the box algebra. Solving recursive net equations. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 9/95, 16+15 p., April 1995.
- [66] BEST, E., KOUTNY, M. Operational and denotational semantics for the box algebra. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 33/95, 53 p., October 1995.
- [67] BEST, E., KOUTNY, M. A refined view of the box algebra. LNCS 935, p. 1–20, 1995.

- [68] BEST, E., KOUTNY, M. Solving recursive net equations. LNCS 944, p. 605–623, 1995.
- [69] BERGSTRA, J.A., KLOP, J.W., TUCKER, J.V. Process algebra with synchronism communication mechanisms. LNCS 197, p. 180–196, 1985.
- [70] BEST, E., LAVROV, A. Operational semantics of place synchronization in the box calculus. Draft paper, 5 p., October 1995.
- [71] BEST, E., LAVROV, A. Syntactical representation of place synchronization in the box calculus. Draft paper, 10 p., October 1995.
- [72] BEST, E., LINDE-GOERS, H.G. Compositional process semantics of Petri boxes. Proceedings of Mathematical Foundations of Programming Semantics, New Orleans, LNCS, 1993.
- [73] BROOKES, S.D., ROSCOE, A.W. An improved failures model for communicating processes. LNCS 197, p. 281–305, 1985.
- [74] BROOKES, S.D. On the relationship of CCS and CSP. LNCS 154, p. 83–96, 1983.
- [75] BROOKES, S.D. A semantically based proof system for partial correctness and deadlock in CSP. Proceedings of 1st LICS, p. 58–65, 1986.
- [76] BAETEN, J.C.M., VAANDRAGER, F.W. An algebra for process creation. Report CS-R 8907, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, 24 p., March 1989.
- [77] BAETEN, J.C.M., VAANDRAGER, F.W. An algebra for process creation. J.W. de Bakker, 25 Jaar Semantiek, Liber Amicorum, p. 57–81, 1989.
- [78] BAETEN, J.C.M., VAANDRAGER, F.W. An algebra for process creation. Acta Informatica 29(4), p. 303–334, 1992.
- [79] DE BAKKER, J.W., WARMERDAM, J.H.A. Metric pomset semantics for a concurrent language with restriction. LNCS 469, p. 21–49, 1990.
- [80] DE BAKKER, J.W., ZUCKER, J.I. Processes and denotational semantics of concurrency. Information and Control 54, p. 70–120, 1982.
- [81] CASTELLANI, I. Bisimulations for concurrency. Ph.D. thesis, University of Edinburgh, 1988.
- [82] CASTELLANI, I. Observing distribution in processes. LNCS 711, p. 321–331, 1993.
- [83] CASTELLANI, I. Observing distribution in processes: static and dynamic localities. INRIA Research Report 2276, 45 p., May 1994.
- [84] CLARKE, E.M., EMERSON, E.A., SISTLA, A.P. Automatic verification of finite-state concurrent systems using temporal logic specifications. ACM Transactions on Programming Languages and Systems 8(2), p. 244–263, 1986.
- [85] CERĀNS, K. Decidability of bisimulation equivalences for parallel timer processes. LNCS 663, p. 302–315, 1993.
- [86] ČERĀNS, K. CRT: a calculus of timed refinement. LNCS 962, p. 516–530, 1995.

- [87] CZAJA, I., VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., GOLTZ, U. Interleaving semantics and action refinement with atomic choice. LNCS 609, p. 89–107, 1992.
- [88] CHERIEF, F., LAROUSSINIE, F., PINCHINAT, S. Modal logics with past for true concurrency. Proceedings of CONCUR'92, February 1992.
- [89] CHERKASOVA, L.A. On models and algebras for concurrent processes. LNCS 324, p. 27– 43, 1988.
- [90] CHERKASOVA, L.A. Completeness of axiom set and inference rules for algebra of generalized concurrent processes. Papers presented at the International Conference in Computer Logic, COLOG-88, Institute of Cybernetics of the Academy of Sciences of the Estonian SSR, Part II, p. 209–223, December 1988.
- [91] CHERKASOVA, L.A. Posets with non-actions: a model for concurrent nondeterministic processes. Arbeitspapiere der GMD 403, 68 p., July 1989.
- [92] CHERKASOVA, L.A. Algebra AFP₂ for concurrent nondeterministic processes: fully abstract model and complete axiomatization. Reihe Informatik 72, 28 p., July 1990.
- [93] CHERKASOVA, L.A. A fully abstract model for concurrent nondeterministic processes based on posets with non-actions. Report CS-R 9031, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, 42 p., July 1990.
- [94] CASTELLANI, I., HENNESSY, M.C.B. Distributed bisimulations. Journal of the ACM 36(4), p. 887–911, 1989.
- [95] CHERIEF, F. Back and forth bisimulations on prime event structures. LNCS 605, p. 843– 858, June 1992.
- [96] CHERIEF, F. Contributions à la sémantique du parallélisme: bisimulations pour le raffinement et le vrai parallélisme. Ph.D. thesis, Institut National Politechnique de Grenoble, France, October 1992 (in French).
- [97] CHERIEF, F. Investigations of back and forth bisimulations on prime event structures. Computers and Artificial Intelligence 11(5), p. 481–496, 1992.
- [98] CHERKASOVA, L.A., FILURIN, A.S. Concurrent processes with synchronization: net and algebraic approach. LNCS 363, p. 63–80, 1989.
- [99] CHERKASOVA, L.A., KOTOV, V.E. Structured nets. LNCS 118, p. 242–251, 1981.
- [100] CHERKASOVA, L.A., KOTOV, V.E. Concurrent nondeterministic processes: adequacy of structure and behavior. LNCS 379, p. 67–87, 1989.
- [101] CHERKASOVA, L.A., KOTOV, V.E. Descriptive and analytical process algebras. LNCS 424, p. 77–104, 1989.
- [102] CHERKASOVA, L.A., KOTOV, V.E. An algebra for concurrent nondeterministic processes. TCS 90, p. 151–170, 1991.
- [103] CHRISTENSEN, S., HIRSHFELD, Y., MOLLER, F. Bisimulation equivalence is decidable for basic parallel processes. LNCS 715, p. 143–157, 1993.

- [104] CHRISTENSEN, S., HIRSHFELD, Y., MOLLER, F. Decomposability, decidability and axiomatisability for bisimulation equivalence on basic parallel processes. Proceedings of 8th LICS, p. 386–396, 1993.
- [105] CHERIEF, F., SCHNOEBELEN, PH. τ-bisimulations and full abstraction for refinement of actions. Information Processing Letters 40, p. 219–222, November 1991.
- [106] CASTELLANO, L., DE MICHELIS, G., POMELLO, L. Concurrency vs interleaving: an instructive example. Bulletin of the EATCS **31**, p. 12–15, 1987.
- [107] CORRADINI, F., DE NICOLA, R. Locality based semantics for process algebras. Acta Informatica 34(4), p. 294–324, 1997.
- [108] CLEAVELAND, F., SMOLKA, S.A. Strategic directions in computer research: concurrency working group research. Bulletin of the EATCS 60, p. 97–122, October 1996.
- [109] DARONDEAU, PH., DEGANO, P. Causal trees. LNCS 372, p. 234–248, 1989.
- [110] DARONDEAU, PH., DEGANO, P. Event structures, causal trees and refinements. LNCS 452, p. 239–245, 1990.
- [111] DARONDEAU, PH., DEGANO, P. Causal trees, interleaving + causality. LNCS 469, p. 239–255, 1990.
- [112] DARONDEAU, PH., DEGANO, P. Refinement of actions in event structures and causal trees. TCS 118, p. 21-48, 1993.
- [113] DEVILLERS, R. Maximality preserving bisimulation. Technical Report LIT-214, Lab. Informatique Theorique, Universite Libre de Bruxelles, March 1990.
- [114] DEVILLERS, R. Maximality preserving bisimulation. TCS 102, p. 165–184, 1992.
- [115] DEVILLERS, R. Maximality preservation and the ST-idea for action refinements. LNCS 609, p. 108–151, 1992.
- [116] DEVILLERS, R. Construction of S-invariants and S-components for refined Petri boxes. LNCS 691, p. 242–261, 1993.
- [117] DEVILLERS, R. S-invariant analysis of general recursive Petri boxes. Acta Informatica 32(4), p. 313–345, 1995.
- [118] DEVILLERS, R. Petri boxes and finite processes. LNCS 1119, p. 465–480, 1996.
- [119] DEGANO, P., DE NICOLA, R., MONTANARI, U. CCS is an (augmented) contact free C/E system. LNCS 280, p. 144–165, 1987.
- [120] DEGANO, P., DE NICOLA, R., MONTANARI, U. Observational equivalences for concurrency models. Proceedings 3rd IFIP WG 2.2 Working Conference, p. 105–132, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1987.
- [121] DEGANO, P., DE NICOLA, R., MONTANARI, U. A distributed operational semantics for CCS based on condition / event systems. Acta Informatica 26, p. 59–91, 1988.
- [122] DEGANO, P., DE NICOLA, R., MONTANARI, U. Partial orderings descriptions and observations of nondeterministic concurrent processes. LNCS 354, p. 438–466, 1989.

- [123] DEGANO, P., DE NICOLA, R., MONTANARI, U. A partial ordering semantics for CCS. TCS 75, p. 223–255, 1990.
- [124] DEGANO, P., DE NICOLA, R., MONTANARI, U. Universal axioms for bisimulations. TCS 114, p. 63–91, 1993.
- [125] ESPARZA, J., BRUNS, G. Trapping mutual execution in the box calculus. TCS 153, p. 95–128, 1996.
- [126] ENGELFRIET, J. Determinacy \rightarrow (observation equivalence = trace equivalence). TCS 36, p. 21–25, 1985.
- [127] ENGELFRIET, J. Branching processes of Petri nets. Acta Informatica 28(6), p. 575–591, 1991.
- [128] FOKKINK, W., KLUSENER, S. An effective axiomatization for real time ACP. Information and Computation 122, p. 286–299, 1995.
- [129] FELDER, M., MORZENTI, A. A temporal logic approach to implementation and refinement in timed Petri nets. LNCS ?, p. 365–381, 1994.
- [130] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., GOLTZ, U. Equivalence notions for concurrent systems and refinement of actions. Arbeitspapiere der GMD 366, 1989.
- [131] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., GOLTZ, U. Equivalence notions for concurrent systems and refinement of actions. LNCS 379, p. 237–248, 1989.
- [132] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., GOLTZ, U. Partial order semantics for the refinement of actions: neither necessary nor always sufficient but appropriate when used with care. Note CS-N 8901, 10 p., Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, July 1989.
- [133] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., GOLTZ, U. Refinement of actions in causality based models. Arbeitspapiere der GMD 428, 1990.
- [134] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., GOLTZ, U. Refinement of actions in causality based models. LNCS 430, p. 267–300, 1990.
- [135] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., GOLTZ, U. Equivalence notions and refinement of actions for flow event structures. DEMON deliverables, Esprit Basic Research Action 3148, 1990.
- [136] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., GOLTZ, U. Equivalences and refinement. LNCS 469, p. 309–333, 1990.
- [137] GOLTZ, U., GORRIERI, R., RENSINK, A. On syntactic and semantic action refinement. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 17/92, Institut f
 ür Informatik, Universität Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Germany, 1992.
- [138] GOLTZ, U., GORRIERI, R., RENSINK, A. On syntactic and semantic action refinement. LNCS 789, p. 385–404, 1994.
- [139] GOLTZ, U., KUIPER, R., PENCZEK, W. Propositional temporal logic and equivalences. LNCS 630, p. 222–236, August 1992.
- [140] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. Bounded nondeterminism and the approximation induction principle in process algebra. LNCS 247, p. 336–347, 1987.

- [141] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. The refinement theorem for ST-bisimulation semantics. Report CS-R 9002, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, 1990.
- [142] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. The refinement theorem for ST-bisimulation semantics. M.Broy and C.B.Jones, editors. Proceedings IFIP Working Conference of Programming Concepts and Methods, Sea of Galilee, Israel, 1990.
- [143] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. The linear time branching time spectrum. Extended abstract. LNCS 458, p. 278–297, 1990.
- [144] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. Comparative concurrency semantics and refinement of actions. Ph.D. thesis, Free University, Amsterdam, 1990.
- [145] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. The linear time branching time spectrum II: the semantics of sequential systems with silent moves. Extended abstract. LNCS 715, p. 66–81, 1993.
- [146] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J. What is branching time semantics and why to use it ? Bulletin of the EATCS 53, p. 191–198, June 1994.
- [147] GOLTZ, U., MYCROFT, A. On the relationship of CCS and Petri nets. LNCS 172, p. 196–208, 1984.
- [148] GOLTZ, U. On representing CCS programs by finite Petri nets. LNCS 324, p. 339–350, 1988.
- [149] GOLTZ, U. CCS and Petri nets. LNCS 469, p. 334–357, 1990.
- [150] GOLTZ, U., REISIG, W. Processes of place-transition nets. LNCS 154, p. 164–177, 1983.
- [151] GOLTZ, U., REISIG, W. The non-sequential behaviour of Petri nets. Infomation and Control 57, p. 125–147, 1983.
- [152] GOLTZ, U., REISIG, W. CSP-programs as nets with individual tokens. LNCS 188, p. 169–196, 1985.
- [153] GRABOWSKI, J. On partial languages. Fundamenta Informaticae IV(2), p. 428–498, 1981.
- [154] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., VAANDRAGER, F.W. Petri net models for algebraic theories of concurrency. LNCS 259, p. 224–242, 1987.
- [155] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., WEIJLAND, W.P. Branching time and abstraction in bisimulation semantics (extended abstract). Report CS-R 8911, 14 p., Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, April 1989.
- [156] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., WEIJLAND, W.P. Branching time and abstraction in bisimulation semantics (extended abstract). G.X. Ritter, editor: Information Processing 89, Proceedings of 11th World Computer Congress, San Francisco, p. 613–618, North-Holland, August 1989.
- [157] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., WEIJLAND, W.P. Refinement in branching time semantics. J.W. de Bakker, 25 Jaar Semantiek, Liber Amicorum, p. 247–252, 1989.
- [158] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., WEIJLAND, W.P. Branching time and abstraction in bisimulation semantics. Report CS-R 9120, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, 1991.

- [159] VAN GLABBEEK, R.J., WEIJLAND, W.P. Branching time and abstraction in bisimulation semantics. Journal of the ACM 43(3), p. 555–600, 1996.
- [160] GOLTZ, U., WEHRHEIM, H. Causal testing. LNCS 1113, p. 394–406, 1996.
- [161] HENNESSY, M.C.B. Algebraic theory of processes. Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1988.
- [162] HENNESSY, M.C.B. Observing processes. LNCS 354, p. 173–200, 1989.
- [163] HOOGERS, P.W., KLEIJN, H.C.M., THIAGARAJAN, P.S. An event structure semantics for general Petri nets. TCS 153, p. 129–170, 1996.
- [164] HENNESSY, M., MILNER, R.A.J. Algebraic laws for nondeterminism and concurrency. Journal of the ACM 32(1), p. 137–161, January 1985.
- [165] HOARE, C.A.R. Communicating sequential processes. Communications ACM 21(8), p. 666-677, 1978.
- [166] HOARE, C.A.R. Communicating sequential processes, on the construction of programs. (McKeag, R.M., Macnaghten, A.M. eds.) Cambridge University Press, p. 229–254, 1980.
- [167] HOARE, C.A.R. A model for communicating sequential processes. Technical Monograph, Prg 22, Computing Laboratory, University of Oxford, 1981.
- [168] HOARE, C.A.R. Communicating sequential processes. Prentice-Hall, London, 1985.
- [169] HOOGERS, P.W. Behavioural aspects of Petri nets. Ph.D. thesis, 1994.
- [170] JOYAL, A., NIELSEN, M., WINSKEL, G. Bisimulation and open maps. Proceedings of 8th LICS, p. 418–427, 1993.
- [171] JOYAL, A., NIELSEN, M., WINSKEL, G. Bisimulation and open maps. BRICS RS-94-7, Computer Science Department, Aarhus University, 42 p., May 1994.
- [172] KOUTNY, M., BEST, E. Operational and denotational semantics for the box algebra. Draft paper, 70 p., March 1997.
- [173] KOTOV, V.E., CHERKASOVA, L.A. On structural properties of generalized processes. LNCS 188, p. 288–306, 1985.
- [174] KOTOV, V.E., CHERKASOVA, L.A. From nets to logic and back in the specification of process. Concurrency and Nets, p. 253–268, Springer-Verlag, 1987.
- [175] KOTOV, V.E., CHERKASOVA, L.A. On generalized process logic. LNCS 278, p. 246–250, 1987.
- [176] KOTOV, V.E., CHERKASOVA, L.A. Calculi of processes. System Informatics 2, p. 6–38, Novosibirsk, "Nauka", 1993 (in Russian).
- [177] KOUTNY, M., ESPARZA, J., BEST, E. Operational semantics for the Petri box calculus. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 13/93, October 1993.
- [178] KOUTNY, M., ESPARZA, J., BEST, E. Operational semantics for the Petri box calculus. LNCS 836, p. 210–225, 1994.

- [179] KELLER, R.M. Formal verification of parallel programs. Communications of the ACM 19(7), p. 371–384, 1976.
- [180] KIEHN, A. On the interrelation between synchronized and non-synchronized behavior of Petri nets. Journal Inform. Process. Cybernet. EIK 24(1/2), p. 3–18, 1988.
- [181] KIEHN, A. Proof systems for cause based equivalences. LNCS 711, p. 547–556, 1993.
- [182] KIEHN, A. Comparing locality and causality based equivalences. Acta Informatica 31(8), p. 697–718, 1994.
- [183] KOTOV, V.E. Algebra of regular nets. Preprint of Computing Center of SD RAS 98, Novosibirsk, 1978 (in Russian).
- [184] KOTOV, V.E. An algebra for parallelism based on Petri nets. LNCS 64, p. 39–55, 1978.
- [185] KOTOV, V.E. Petri nets. Moscow, "Nauka", 160 p., 1984 (in Russian).
- [186] KOUTNY, M. Partial order semantics of box expressions. LNCS 815, p. 318–337, 1994.
- [187] LAROUSSINIE, F. Temporal logic for specification and verification of reactive systems. Ph.D. thesis, Institut National Politechnique de Grenoble, France, 151 p., 1994 (in French).
- [188] LILIUS, J. OB(PN)²: an object oriented language with a truly concurrent semantics. Version 1.2. Draft paper, 22 p., January 19, 1996.
- [189] LAROUSSINIE, F., SCHNOEBELEN, PH. A hierarchy of temporal logics with past. TCS 148, p. 303–324, 1995.
- [190] MAZURKIEWICZ, A. Trace theory. LNCS 255, p. 279–324, 1987.
- [191] MAZURKIEWICZ, A. Basic notions of trace theory. LNCS 354, p. 285–363, 1988.
- [192] MERLIN, P., FARBER, D.J. Recoverability of communication protocols. IEEE Transactions on Communication Protocols COM-24(9), 1976.
- [193] MILNER, R.A.J. Algebras for communicating systems. Technical Report CSR-25-78, Computer Science Department, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, England, 18 p., 1978.
- [194] MILNER, R.A.J. A calculus of communicating systems. LNCS 92, p. 172–180, 1980.
- [195] MILNER, R.A.J. A modal characterization of observable machine behaviour. LNCS 112, p. 25–34, 1981.
- [196] MILNER, R.A.J. A complete inference system for a class of regular behaviours. Technical Report CSR-111-82, Computer Science Department, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, England, 1982.
- [197] MILNER, R.A.J. A finite delay operator in synchronous CCS. Technical Report CSR-116-82, Computer Science Department, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, England, 1982.
- [198] MILNER, R.A.J. Calculi for synchrony and asynchrony. TCS 25, p. 267–310, 1983.
- [199] MILNER, R.A.J. Lectures on a calculus of communicating systems. LNCS 197, p. 197–221, 1984.

- [200] MILNER, R.A.J. Communication and concurrency. Prentice-Hall International, New York, 1989.
- [201] MESEGUER, J., MONTANARI, U., SASSONE, V. On the semantics of place / transition Petri nets. Pisa University Technical Report TR-27/92, 1992.
- [202] MESEGUER, J., MONTANARI, U., SASSONE, V. On the semantics of Petri nets. LNCS 630, p. 286–301, 1992.
- [203] MESEGUER, J., MONTANARI, U., SASSONE, V. On the model of computation of place / transition Petri nets. LNCS 815, p. 16–38, 1994.
- [204] MESEGUER, J., MONTANARI, U., SASSONE, V. Process versus unfolding semantics for place / transition Petri nets. TCS 153, p. 171–210, 1996.
- [205] MUKUND, M., NIELSEN, M. CCS, locations and asynchronous transition systems. LNCS 652, p. 328–341, 1993.
- [206] MELZER, S., RÖMER, S., ESPARZA, J. Verification using PEP. LNCS 1101, p. 591–594, 1996.
- [207] NIELSEN, M., CLAUSEN, C. Bisimulation for models in concurrency. LNCS 836, p. 385–400, 1994.
- [208] NIELSEN, M., ENGBERG, U., LARSEN, K.S. Fully abstract models for a process language with refinement. LNCS 354, p. 523–548, 1989.
- [209] NAKAGAWA, M., KUMAGAI, S., MIYAMOTO, T., LEE, D.-I.S. Equivalent net reduction for firing sequence. IEICE Transactions of Fundamentals of Electronics, Communications and Computer Science E 78-A(11), p. 1447–1457, November 1995.
- [210] DE NICOLA, R., MONTANARI, U., VAANDRAGER, F.W. Back and forth bisimulations. LNCS 458, p. 152–165, 1990.
- [211] NIELSEN, M., PLOTKIN, G., WINSKEL, G. Petri nets, event structures and domains. TCS 13, p. 85–108, 1981.
- [212] NIELSEN, M., ROZENBERG, G., THIAGARAJAN, P.S. Behavioural notions for elementary net systems. Distributed Computing 4, p. 45–57, 1990.
- [213] NIELSEN, M., ROZENBERG, G., THIAGARAJAN, P.S. Elementary transition system and refinement. Acta Informatica 29(6/7), p. 555–578, 1992.
- [214] NIELSEN, M., THIAGARAJAN, P.S. Degrees of non-determinism and concurrency: A Petri net view. LNCS 181, p. 89–117, December 1984.
- [215] NIELSEN, M., WINSKEL, G. Petri nets and bisimulations. BRICS RS-95-4, Computer Science Department, Aarhus University, 36 p., January 1995.
- [216] OLDEROG, E.-R. Process theory: semantics, specification and verification. LNCS 224, p. 442–509, 1986.
- [217] OLDEROG, E.-R. TCSP: theory of communicating sequential processes. LNCS 255, p. 441–465, 1987.
- [218] OLDEROG, E.-R. Operational Petri net semantics for CCSP. LNCS 266, p. 196–223, 1987.
- [219] OLDEROG, E.-R. Nets, terms and formulas, three views of concurrent processes and their relationship. Habilitationsschrift, Christian-Albrechts Universität, Kiel, July 1989.
- [220] OLDEROG, E.-R. Strong bisimilarity on nets: a new concept for comparing net semantics. LNCS 354, p. 549–573, 1989.
- [221] OLDEROG, E.-R. Nets, terms and formulas. Cambridge Tracts in Theoretical Computer Science 23, Cambridge University Press, 1991.
- [222] PETERSON, J.L. Petri net theory and modeling of systems. Prentice-Hall, 1981. (There is a Russian translation: PETERSON, J.L. Petri net theory and modeling of systems. Moscow, "Mir", 1984.)
- [223] PARK, D.M.R. Concurrency and automata on infinite sequences. Computer Science Department, University of Warwisk, Great Britain, 1981.
- [224] PARK, D.M.R. Concurrency and automata on infinite sequences. LNCS 104, p. 167–183, March 1981.
- [225] PENSZEK, W. A temporal logic for event structures. Fundamenta Informaticae 11(3), p. 297–326, 1988.
- [226] PENSZEK, W. A concurrent branching time temporal logic. LNCS 11(3), p. 297–326, 1988.
- [227] PENSZEK, W. Branching time and partial order in temporal logic. Technical Report UMCS-91-??, Department of Computer Science, University of Manchester, 1991.
- [228] PETRI, C.A. Kommunikation mit Automaten. Ph.D. thesis, Universität Bonn, Schriften des Instituts für Instrumentelle Mathematik, 1962 (in German).
- [229] PETRI, C.A. Non-sequential processes. GMD-InformationsSystemForschung, Interner Bericht 77-05, 1977.
- [230] PETRI, C.A. Introduction to general net theory. LNCS 84, p. 1–20, 1980.
- [231] PETRI, C.A. Nets, time and space. TCS 153, p. 3-48, 1996.
- [232] PFISTER, W. Simplification sémantique des réseaux de Petri par la bisimulation de places. Technical Report of DEA, University of Grenoble, Grenoble, France, June 1992 (in French).
- [233] PINCHINAT, S. Bisimulations for the semantics of reactive systems. Ph.D. thesis, Institut National Politechnique de Grenoble, January 1993 (in French).
- [234] PLOTKIN, G.D. A structural approach to operational semantics. Technical Report DAIMI FN-19, Computer Science Department, Aarhus University, 1981.
- [235] POMELLO, L. Some equivalence notions for concurrent systems: an overview. GMD Report 103, 1984.
- [236] POMELLO, L. Some equivalence notions for concurrent systems. An overview. LNCS 222, p. 381–400, 1986.

- [237] POMELLO, L. Refinement of concurrent systems based on local state transformations. LNCS 430, p. 641–668, 1990.
- [238] PRATT, V.R. On the composition of processes. Proceedings of 9th POPL, p. 213–223, 1982.
- [239] PRATT, V.R. The pomset model of parallel processes: unifying the temporal and the spatial. LNCS 197, p. 180–196, 1986.
- [240] PRATT, V.R. Modelling concurrency with partial orders. International Journal of Parallel Programming 15(1), p. 33–71, 1986.
- [241] POMELLO, L., ROZENBERG, G., SIMONE, C. A survey of equivalence notions for net based systems. LNCS 609, p. 410–472, 1992.
- [242] REISIG, W. Partial order semantics versus interleaving semantics for CSP-like languages and its impact on fairness. LNCS 172, p. 403–413, 1984.
- [243] REISIG, W. Petri nets. An introduction. EATCS Monographs on Theoretical Computer Science 4, Springer-Verlag, 1985.
- [244] REM, M. Trace theory and systolic computations. LNCS 258, p. 14–33, 1987.
- [245] RENSINK, A. Models and methods for action refinement. Ph.D. thesis, University of Twente, August 1993.
- [246] ROZENBERG, G., THIAGARAJAN, P.S. Petri nets: basic notions, structure, behaviour. LNCS 224, p. 585–668, 1986.
- [247] RABINOVITCH, A., TRAKHTENBROT, B.A. Behaviour structures and nets. Fundamenta Informaticae XI, p. 357–404, 1988.
- [248] SASSONE, V. On the semantics of Petri nets: processes, unfoldings and infinite computations. Ph.D. thesis, 351 p., 1994.
- [249] SLOAN, R.H., BUY, U. Reduction rules for time Petri nets. Acta Informatica 33(7), p. 687–706, 1996.
- [250] SASSONE, V., NIELSEN, M., WINSKEL, G. Deterministic behavioural models for concurrency. LNCS 711, p. 682–692, 1993.
- [251] SASSONE, V., NIELSEN, M., WINSKEL, G. A classification of models for concurrency. LNCS 715, p. 82–96, 1993.
- [252] TARASYUK, I.V. Transformation formulas of algebra AFP₂ into canonical form. Problems of Theoretical and Experimental Programming (edited by V.A. Nepomniaschy), p. 47–59, Institute of Informatics Systems, Novosibirsk, 1993 (in Russian).
- [253] TARASYUK, I.V. Equivalences on Petri nets. Specification, Verification and Net Models of Concurrent Systems, p. 35–57, Institute of Informatics Systems, Novosibirsk, 1994.
- [254] TARASYUK, I.V. An investigation of equivalence notions on some subclasses of Petri nets. Bulletin of the Novosibirsk Computing Center, Series Computer Science 3, p. 89–100, Computing Center, Novosibirsk, 1995.

- [255] TARASYUK, I.V. An investigation of net equivalences. Proceedings of 4th International Conference on Applied Logics (AL'95), p. 74–75, Irkutsk, Russia, June 1995 (in Russian).
- [256] TARASYUK, I.V. Algebra AFLP₂: a calculus of labelled nondeterministic concurrent processes. Problems of Specification and Verification of Concurrent Systems (edited by V.A. Nepomniaschy), p. 22–49, Institute of Informatics Systems, Novosibirsk, 1995 (in Russian).
- [257] TARASYUK, I.V. Equivalence notions for design of concurrent systems using Petri nets. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 4/96, part 1, 19 p., Institut für Informatik, Universität Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Germany, January 1996.
- [258] TARASYUK, I.V. Algebra AFLP₂: a calculus of labelled nondeterministic processes. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 4/96, part 2, 18 p., Institut für Informatik, Universität Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Germany, January 1996.
- [259] TARASYUK, I.V. Petri net equivalences for design of concurrent systems. Proceedings of 5th Workshop on Concurrency, Specification and Programming - 96 (CSP'96), September 25–27, 1996, Informatik-Bericht 69, p. 190–204, Institut für Informatik, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany, 1996.
- [260] TARASYUK, I.V. An algebra of labelled nondeterministic processes. Joint Novosibirsk Computing Center and Institute of Informatics Systems Bulletin, Series Computer Science 5, p. 83–100, Novosibirsk, 1996.
- [261] TARASYUK, I.V. Back-forth equivalences for design of concurrent systems. S. Adian, A. Nerode, eds., Proceedings of 4th International Symposium on Logical Foundations of Computer Science 97 (LFCS'97), LNCS **1234**, p. 374–384, Yaroslavl, 1997.
- [262] TARASYUK, I.V. An investigation of back-forth and place bisimulation equivalences. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 8/97, 30 p., Institut für Informatik, Universität Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Germany, April 1997.
- [263] TARASYUK, I.V. An investigation of τ-equivalences. Hildesheimer Informatik-Bericht 9/97, 28 p., Institut für Informatik, Universität Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Germany, April 1997.
- [264] TARASYUK, I.V. Equivalences for behavioural analysis of multilevel systems. Joint Novosibirsk Computing Center and Institute of Informatics Systems Bulletin, Series Computer Science 7, Novosibirsk, 1997.
- [265] TARASYUK, I.V. Equivalence notions for models of concurrent and distributed systems. Dissertation for candidate degree in physics and mathematics (Ph.D. in mathematics and computer science). Speciality 05.13.11 — mathematical and programming support of computing machines, complexes, systems and nets. A.P. Ershov Institute of Informatics Systems, Siberian Division of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Novosibirsk, Russia, 191 p., December 1997.
- [266] TRAKHTENBROT, B.A., RABINOVITCH, A., HIRSHFELD, J. Discerning causality in the behaviour of automata. Technical report 104/88, Tel Aviv University, 1988.
- [267] TAUBNER, D.A., VOGLER, W. The step failure semantics. LNCS 247, p. 348–359, 1987.

- [268] USTIMENKO, A.P., CHERKASOVA, L.A. An algebra of concurrent nondeterministic processes: denotational and operational semantics. Preprint of Computing Center of SD RAS 903, 38 p., Novosibirsk, 1990 (in Russian).
- [269] VAANDRAGER, F.W. Determinism → (event structure isomorphism3D step sequence equivalence). Report CS-R 8839, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, 1988.
- [270] VAANDRAGER, F.W. An explicit representation of equivalence classes of history preserving bisimulation. Unpublished manuscript, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, 1989.
- [271] VAANDRAGER, F.W. Algebraic techniques for concurrency and their applications. Ph.D. thesis, Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, 244 p., 1989.
- [272] VAANDRAGER, F.W. Determinism \rightarrow (event structure isomorphism3D step sequence equivalence). TCS **79**, p. 275–294, February 1991.
- [273] VOGLER, W. Behaviour preserving refinements of Petri nets. LNCS 246, p. 82–93, 1987.
- [274] VOGLER, W. Failures semantics based on interval semiwords is a congruence for refinement. Technical Report TUM-I 8905, Institut für Informatic, Technische Universität München, 1989.
- [275] VOGLER, W. Failures semantics based on interval semiwords is a congruence for refinement. LNCS 415, p. 285–297, 1990.
- [276] VOGLER, W. Failures semantics of Petri nets and the refinement of places and transitions. Technical Report TUM-I 9003, Institut für Informatic, Technische Universität München, 1990.
- [277] VOGLER, W. Bisimulation and action refinement. SFB Bericht 342/10/90A, Technische Universität München, 1990.
- [278] VOGLER, W. Bisimulation and action refinement. LNCS 480, p. 309–321, 1991.
- [279] VOGLER, W. Deciding history preserving bisimilarity. LNCS 510, p. 495–505, 1991.
- [280] VOGLER, W. Failures semantics based on interval semiwords is a congruence for refinement. Distributed Computing 4, p. 139–162, 1991.
- [281] VOGLER, W. Partial words versus processes: a short comparison. LNCS 609, p. 292–303, 1992.
- [282] VOGLER, W. Modular construction and partial order semantics of Petri nets. LNCS 625, 252 p., 1992.
- [283] VOGLER, W. The limit of split_n-language equivalence. Report **288**, Institut für Matematik, Universität Augsburg, 1993.
- [284] VOGLER, W. Bisimulation and action refinement. TCS 114, p. 173–200, 1993.
- [285] VOGLER, W. The limit of $split_n$ -language equivalence. LNCS 944, p. 636–647, 1995.

- [286] VIRBITSKAITE, I.B., TARASYUK, I.V. Investigating equivalence notions for time Petri nets. Proceedings of 4th Workshop on Logic, Languages, Information and Computation (WoLLIC'97), Fortaleza (Ceará), Brazil, August 19–22, 1997, Logic Journal of the IGPL 5(6), Oxford University Press, November 1997.
- [287] WALKER, D.J. Bisimulation and divergence. Information and Computation 85(2), p. 201– 241, 1990.
- [288] WEIJLAND, W.P. Synchrony and asynchrony in process algebra. Ph.D. thesis, University of Amsterdam, 1989.
- [289] WINSKEL, G. Events in computation. Ph.D. thesis, University of Edinburgh, 1980.
- [290] WINSKEL, G. Event structure semantics for CCS and related languages. LNCS 140, p. 561–567, 1982.
- [291] WINSKEL, G. Synchronization trees. TCS 34, p. 33–82, 1985.
- [292] WINSKEL, G. Event structures. LNCS 255, p. 325–392, 1987.
- [293] WINSKEL, G. An introduction to event structures. LNCS 354, p. 364–397, 1989.
- [294] WOLFSTAHL, J., YOELI, M. An equivalence theorem for labeled marked graphs. IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems 5(8), p. 886–890, 1994.
- [295] YONEDA, T., SHIBAYAMA, A., SCHLINGLOF, F B.-H., CLARKE, E.M. Efficient verification of parallel real-time systems. LNCS 697, p. 321–332, 1993.